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guila, Alpine, Arizona Village, Ash Fork, Bagdad, Black Mesa, Blue Ridge, Bonita, Bouse, Bullhead City, Bullhead City North, Cameron, Camp Verde, Castle Rock, Chinle, Chino Valley, Cibola, Clifton, Coconino Plateau, Colorado City, Cottonwood, Dennehotso, Dilcon, Duncan, Eagar, East Kingman, Ehrenberg, Flagstaff, Ft. Apache, Ft. Defiance, Fredon

end, Globe, Golden Valley, Grand Canyon, Greasewood, Green Haven, Greer, Harquahala Valley, Hawley Lake, Heber, Holbrook, Humboldt, Hyder, Joseph City, Kaibito, Kayenta, Keams Canyon, Kingman, Kykotsmovi Village, Lake Havasu City, Lake Mohave Ranchos, Lake Pleasant, Le Chee, Leupp, Littlefield, Lukachukai, Many Farms, Marble Canyon, 

eadview, Mesquite Creek, Miami, Mohave Valley, Mormon Lake, Munds Park, Page, Parker, Parker Dam, Payson, Peach Springs, Pima, Pinedale, Pinetop, Pinon Cottonwood, Polacca, Poston, Prescott, Quartzsite, Red Valley, Rock Point, Roosevelt Lake, Rough Rock, Safford, Saint Johns, Salome, San Carlos, Sanders, Sedona, Seligman, Shonto, Show

nowflake, Somerton, Springerville, Supai, Teec Nos Pos, Tonto Basin, Toyei, Tsaile, Tuba City, Wellton, Whiteriver, Wickenburg, Wide Ruins, Wikieup, Williams, Window Rock, Winslow, Yarnell, Yarnell, Young, Yucca, Yuma, Annapolis, Arcata, Asti, Benicia, Bodega Bay, Boyes Hot Springs, Calistoga, Clearlake, Cotati, Crescent City, Dixon, Eureka, Fairfie

rt Bragg, Geyserville, Gualala, Guerneville, Healdsburg, Hopland, Lakeport, Middletown, Napa, Orick, Petaluma, Petrolia, Rohnert Park, St. Helena, Santa Rosa, Sonoma, Suisun City, Tomales, Ukiah, Vacaville, Vallejo, Willits, Yorkville, Yountville, Avenal, Chowchilla, Clovis, Coalinga, Corcoran, Dinuba, Ducor, Exeter, Fresno, Hanford, Kerman, Kettlem

ngsburg, Lemoore, Lindsay, Madera, Mendota, Mono Hot Springs, Orange Cove, Orosi, Parlier, Porterville, Reedley, Selma, Tulare, Visalia, Woodlake, Woodville, Auburn, Cameron Park, Chico, Corning, Davis, Grass Valley, Hoopa, Markleeville, Marysville, Orland, Oroville, Palermo, Paradise, Placerville, Red Bluff, Redding, South Lake Tahoe, Susanville

uckee, Willow Creek, Willows, Woodland, Yreka, Yuba City, Bald Knob, Bauxite, Beebe, Benton, Bismarck, Bradford, Cabot, Casa, Cleveland, Clinton, Conway, Coy, Crystal Springs, Donaldson, England, Fairfield Bay, Ferndale, Greers Ferry, Griffithville, Heber Springs, Hot Springs, Jacksonville, Jessieville, Kensett, Little Rock, Lonoke, McRae, Malvern,

mrod, Palarm, Pangburn, Perry, Pinnacle, Pleasant Plains, Redfield, Scotland, Searcy, Shirley, South Fourche, Springlake, Wrightsville, Albertville, Alexander City, Anniston, Arab, Athens, Boaz, Cullman, Dadeville, Decatur, Florence, Ft. Payne, Gadsden, Guntersville, Huntsville, Piedmont, Rockford, Russellville, Sylacauga, Talladega, Wedowee, Atmo

eatrice, Brewton, Castleberry, Coffeeville, Evergreen, Finchburg, Gilbertown, Gosport, Grove Hill, Jackson, Melvin, Mobile, Monroeville, Peterman, Pine Apple, Tillmans Corner, Athens, Blountville, Bluff City, Bristol, Bulls Gap, Charleston, Chattanooga, Cleveland, Clinchport, Coker Creek, Cumberland Gap, Dayton, Deer Lodge, Englewood, Etowah, Fo

eeneville, Huntsville, Jellico, Johnson City, Kingsport, La Follette, Madisonville, Midway, Morristown, New Tazewell, Newport, Niota, Oakdale, Oneida, Petros, Pikeville, Riceville, Robbins, Rogersville, Sneedville, Soddy Daisy, Sunbright, Surgoinsville, Sweetwater, Tellico Plains, Vonore, Wartburg, West Sweetwater, Ball Play, Bean Station, Bent Creek,

axton, Clinton, Concord, Dandridge, Gatlinburg, Greenback, Halls Cross Roads, Harriman, Jefferson City, Kingston, Knoxville, Lake City, Lenoir City, Loudon, Maryville, Mascot, Maynardville, Norris, Oak Ridge, Oliver Springs, Powell, Rockwood, Rutledge, Sevierville, Sharps Chapel, Solway, Tate Springs, Washburn, White Pine, Berthierville, Boucherv

ownsburg, Chateauguay, Chomedey, Eastman, Granby, Joliette, Kahnawake, Lachute, Laval, Lawrenceville, Le Gardeur, Longueuil, Mansonville, Mirabel, St.-Lambert, Ste.-Cathérine, Salaberry-de-Valleyfield, Sorel, Terrebonne, Valcourt, Vaudreui, Ajax, Ancaster, Beeton, Bradford, Brampton, Burlington, Caledon, Castleton, Cobourg, Cooksville, Dund

eelton, Georgetown, Hamilton, Keswick, Malton, Milton, Mississauga, Newmarket, Niagara Falls, Oakville, Oshawa, Port Credit, Port Perry, Richmond Hill, St. Catharines, Selkirk, Streetsville, Thornhill, Unionville, Welland, Addison, Allen, Carrollton, Celina, Dallas, Duncanville, Ennis, Farmers Branch, Frisco, Garland, Grand Prairie, Irving, Italy, Kaufma

ewisville, McKinney, Mesquite, Midlothian, Plano, Renner, Richardson, Seagoville, Terrell, Waxahatchie, Bolivar, Brownsville, Dyersburg, Henning, Humboldt, Jackson, Lexington, McKenzie, Martin, Milan, Paris, Ripley, Savannah, Stanton, Union City, Whiteville, Benton, Carroll, Chester, Crockett, Decatur, Dyer, Gibson, Hardeman, Hardin, Haywood, Hen

ake, Lauderdale, McNairy, Madison, Albany, Ashland, Bend, Coos Bay, Corvallis, Crater Lake, Eugene, Florence, Grants Pass, Hermiston, Klamath Falls, La Grande, Lebanon, Lincoln City, Medford, Newport, Ontario, Pendleton, Roseburg, Springfield, The Dalles, Wolf Creek, Albertson, Baldwin, Bayville, Bethpage, Elmont, Farmingdale, Floral Park, Fran

arden City, Great Neck, Hempstead, Hicksville, Jericho, Levittown, Locust Grove, Long Beach, Lynbrook, Manhasset, Massapequa, Mineola, Oceanside, Oyster Bay, Plainview, Port Washington, Roslyn, Sea Cliff, Syosset, Uniondale, Valley Stream, Westbury, Williston Park, Woodbury, Ballwin, Chesterfield, Crystal City, De Soto, Fenton, Festus, Foley, H

gh Hill, Hillsboro, Holstein, Imperial, Jonesburg, Manchester, Maxville, O'Fallon, Portage des Sioux, St. Charles, Troy, Truxton, Union, Valley Park, Warrenton, Washington, West Alton, Winfield, Algonac, Almont, Avoca, Brighton, Brown City, Byron, Capac, Clio, Columbiaville, Croswell, Davison, Deckerville, Dryden, Emmett, Fenton, Flint, Flushing, Goo

and Blanc, Hadley, Hartland, Imlay City, Jeddo, Lapeer, Lennon, Lexington, Linden, Marine City, Memphis, Metamora, Montrose, Mt. Clemens, Mt. Morris, New Lothrop, North Branch, Otisville, Port Huron, Port Sanilac, Rankin, Roseville, St. Clair, Sandusky, Smiths Creek, Snover, Swartz Creek, Yale, Aberdeen, Annapolis, Baltimore, Berlin, Cambridg

hestertown, Columbia, Crisfield, Dundalk, Easton, Edgewood, Essex, Glen Burnie, Havre de Grace, Joppatowne, Laurel, Perry Hall, Pocomoke City, Prince Frederick, Reisterstown, Salisbury, Solomons, Taneytown, Towson, Westminster, Benton, Bentonville, Blytheville, Conway, El Dorado, Fayetteville, Fort Smith, Hot Springs, Jacksonville, Jonesboro,

orth Little Rock, Paragould, Pine Bluff, Rogers, Russellville, Searcy, Sherwood, Springdale, Texarkana, Van Buren, Apache, Cochise, Coconino, Gila, Graham, Greenlee, La Paz, Maricopa, Mohave, Navajo, Pima, Pinal, Santa Cruz, Yavapai, Yuma, Gilbert, Glendale, Mesa, Peoria, Phoenix, Scottsdale, Tempe, Tucson, Aurora, Berwyn, Calumet City, Chicag

eights, Crystal Lake, Des Plaines, East Chicago, Elgin, Elmhurst, Evanston, Gary, Hammond, Harvey, Highland Park, Joliet, Kenosha, Naperville, North Chicago, Park Ridge, Waukegan, Wheaton, Addison, Arlington Heights, Bartlett, Bolingbrook, Buffalo Grove, Carol Stream, Carpentersville, Catherine, Cook, Cicero, Downers Grove, Elk Grove Village,

eights, Glenview, Hanover Park, Hoffman Estates, Lombard, Merrillville, Mount Prospect, Mundelein, Niles, Northbrook, Oak Lawn, Oak Park, Orland Park, Palatine, Schaumburg, Skokie, Streamwood, Tinley Park, Wheeling, Woodridge, DuPage, Kane, Kendall, Kenosha, Lake, Lake, McHenry, Will, Dodge City, Emporia, Garden City, Great Bend, Hays, H

unction City, Kansas City, Lawrence, Leavenworth, Leawood, Lenexa, Manhattan, Olathe, Overland Park, Pittsburg, Prairie Village, Salina, Shawnee, Topeka, Wichita, Allen, Anderson, Atchison, Barber, Barton, Bourbon, Brown, Butler, Chase, Chautauqua, Cherokee, Cheyenne, Clark, Clay Cloud, Coffey, Comanche, Cowley, Crawford, Decatur, Dickinso

ouglas, Edwards, Elk, Ellis, Ellsworth, Finney, Ford, Franklin, Geary, Gove, Graham, Grant, Gray, Greeley, Greenwood, Hamilton, Harper, Harvey, Haskell, Hodgeman, Jackson, Jefferson, Jewell, Johnson, Kearny, Kingman, Kiowa, Labette, Lane, Leavenworth, Lincoln, Linn, Logan, Lyon, Marion, Marshall, McPherson, Meade, Miami, Mitchell, Montgomer

orton, Nemaha, Neosho, Ness, Norton, Osage, Osborne, Ottawa, Pawnee, Phillips, Pottawatomie, Pratt, Rawlins, Reno, Republic, Rice, Riley, Rooks, Rush, Russell, Saline, Scott, Sedgwick, Seward, Shawnee, Sheridan, Sherman, Smith, Stafford, Stanton, Stevens, Sumner, Thomas, Trego, Wabaunsee, Wallace, Washington, Wichita, Wilson, Woodson, Wy

nkeny, Bettendorf, Burlington, Cedar Falls, Cedar Rapids, Clinton, Council Bluffs, Davenport, Des Moines, Dubuque, Fort Dodge, Iowa City, Marion, Marshalltown, Mason City, Muscatine, Ottumwa, Sioux City, Urbandale, Waterloo, West Des Moines, Adair, Adams, Allamakee, Appanoose, Audubon, Benton, Black Hawk, Boone, Bremer, Buchanan, Buena

alhoun, Carroll, Cass, Catherine, Cook, Cedar, Cerro Gordo, Cherokee, Chickasaw, Clarke, Clay, Clayton, Clinton, Crawford, Dallas, Davis, Decatur, Delaware, Des Moines, Dickinson, Dubuque, Emmet, Fayette, Floyd, Franklin, Fremont, Greene, Grundy, Guthrie, Hamilton, Hancock, Hardin, Harrison, Henry, Howard, Humboldt, Ida, Iowa, Jackson, Jasper,

ohnson, Jones, Keokuk, Kossuth, Lee, Linn, Louisa, Lucas, Lyon, Madison, Mahaska, Marion, Marshall, Mills, Mitchell, Monona, Monroe, Montgomery, Muscatine, O'Brien, Osceola, Page, Palo Alto, Plymouth, Pocahontas, Polk, Pottawattamie, Poweshiek, Ringgold, Sac, Scott, Shelby, Sioux, Story, Tama, Taylor, Union, Wapello, Warren, Washington, Way

innebago, Winneshiek, Woodbury, Worth, Wright, Abbey, Abbotsford, Acadia Valley, Actinolite, Admiral, Aishihik, Aiyansh, Aklavik, Akulivik, Alameda, Albert Canyon, Alberton, Alert, Alexis Creek, Alexis River, Alexo, Algonquin Park, Alkali Lake, Barrows, Bassano, Bateman, Bathurst Inlet, Bathurst, Batteau, Battle Creek, Afton, Antelope Valley-Cre

rapahoe, Basin, Buffalo, Douglas, Ethete, Evansville, Fort Washakie, Fox Farm-College, Glenrock, Greybull, Guernsey, Hoback, Kemmerer, Lovell, Lusk, Lyman, Mills, Moose Wilson Road, Mountain View, Newcastle, North Rock Springs, Pine Bluffs, Pinedale, Powell, Rafter J Ranch, Ranchettes, Saratoga, Sleepy Hollow, South Greeley, Sundance, Therm

rrington, Vista West, Wheatland, Wilson, Worland, Wright, Casper, Cheyenne, Cody, Evanston, Gillette, Green River, Jackson, Lander, Laramie, Rawlins, Riverton, Rock Springs, Sheridan, Allouez, Altoona, Antigo, Appleton, Ashland, Ashwaubenon, Baraboo, Beaver Dam, Bellevue, Bellevue Town, Beloit, Beloit, Brookfield, Brown Deer, Burlington, Bur

aledonia, Cedarburg, Chippewa Falls, Cudahy, De Pere, DeForest, Delafield, Delavan, Eau Claire, Elkhorn, Elm Grove, Fitchburg, Fond du Lac, Fort Atkinson, Fox Point, Franklin, Genesee, Germantown, Glendale, Grafton, Grand Chute, Grand Rapids, Green Bay, Greendale, Greenfield, Greenville, Hales Corners, Hartford, Holmen, Howard, Hudson, Hudso

efferson, Kaukauna, Kenosha, Kimberly, La Crosse, Lake Geneva, Lisbon, Little Chute, Madison, Madison, Manitowoc, Marinette, Marshfield, McFarland, Menasha, Menomonee Falls, Menomonie, Mequon, Merrill, Merton, Middleton, Milwaukee, Monona, Monroe, Mount Pleasant, Mukwonago, Muskego, Neenah, New Berlin, New London, New Richmond,

eek, Oconomowoc, Onalaska ,Oregon, Oshkosh, Pewaukee, Platteville, Pleasant Prairie, Plover, Plymouth, Port Washington, Portage, Prairie du Chien, Racine, Reedsburg, Rhinelander, Rib Mountain, Rice Lake, Richfield, Ripon, River Falls, Salem, Shawano, Sheboygan, Sheboygan Falls, Shorewood, Somers, South Milwaukee, Sparta, St. Francis, Stev

oughton, Sturgeon Bay, Suamico, Sun Prairie, Superior, Sussex, Tomah, Two Rivers, Vernon, Verona, Washington, Watertown, Waukesha, Waunakee, Waupun, Wausau, Wauwatosa, West Allis, West Bend, Weston, Whitefish Bay, Whitewater, Wisconsin Rapids, Beckley, Bluefield, Bridgeport, Charleston, Cheat Lake, Clarksburg, Cross Lanes, Dunbar, Elk

untington, Martinsburg, Morgantown, Moundsville, Nitro, Oak Hill, Parkersburg, Pea Ridge, Princeton, South Charleston, St. Albans, Teays Valley, Vienna, Weirton, Wheeling, Aliquippa, Allentown, Altoona, Ambler, Archbald, Ardmore, Audubon, Back Mountain, Baldwin, Beaver Falls, Bellefonte, Bellevue, Berwick, Bethel Park, Bethlehem, Blakely, Bloo

ell, Bradford, Brentwood, Bristol, Brookhaven, Broomall, Butler, Camp Hill, Canonsburg, Carbondale, Carlisle, Carnegie, Carnot-Moon, Castle Shannon, Catasauqua, Chambersburg, Chester, Clairton, Clarion, Clearfield, Clifton Heights, Coatesville, Collegeville, Collingdale, Colonial Park, Columbia, Connellsville, Conshohocken, Coraopolis, Corry, Crafto

arby, Darby Township, Dickson City, Dormont, Downingtown, Doylestown, Drexel Hill, DuBois, Dunmore, Duquesne, East Norriton, East Stroudsburg, East York, Easton, Economy, Edinboro, Elizabethtown, Ellwood City, Emmaus, Ephrata, Erie, Fairless Hills, Farrell, Feasterville-Trevose, Fernway, Folcroft, Folsom, Forest Hills, Franklin, Franklin Park, Full

ettysburg, Glenolden, Glenside, Greensburg, Greenville, Grove City, Hampton Township, Hanover, Harleysville, Harrisburg, Harrison Township, Hatboro, Hazleton, Hermitage, Hershey, Homeacre-Lyndora, Horsham, Huntingdon, Indiana, Jeannette, Jefferson Hills, Johnstown, Kennedy Township, King of Prussia, Kingston, Kulpsville, Lancaster, Lansda

atrobe, Leacock-Leola-Bareville, Lebanon, Levittown, Lewistown, Linglestown, Lionville-Marchwood, Lititz, Lock Haven, Lower Allen, Lower Burrell, Maple Glen, McCandless Township, McKees Rocks, McKeesport, Meadville, Mechanicsburg , Middletown, Middletown, Millersville, Milton, Monaca, Monessen, Montgomeryville, Morrisville, Mount Carmel

ount Lebanon, Mountain Top, Munhall, Municipality of Murrysville, Nanticoke, Nazareth, Nether Providence Township, New Brighton, New Castle, New Cumberland, New Kensington, Norristown, North Braddock, North Versailles, Northampton, Northwest Harborcreek, O'Hara Township, Oakmont, Oil City, Old Forge, Palmyra, Park Forest Village, Par

lls, Perkasie, Philadelphia, Phoenixville, Pittsburgh, Pittston, Pleasant Hills, Plum, Plymouth, Pottstown, Pottsville, Progress, Prospect Park, Punxsutawney, Quakertown, Radnor Township, Reading, Red Lion, Richboro, Ridley Park, Robinson Township, Ross Township, Sanatoga, Scott Township, Scranton, Shaler Township, Shamokin, Sharon, Shiloh,

ouderton, South Park Township, South Williamsport, Springfield, St. Marys, State College, Stowe Township, Sunbury, Swarthmore, Swissvale, Tamaqua, Taylor, Titusville, Trooper, Turtle Creek, Uniontown, Upper Providence Township, Upper St. Clair, Village Green-Green Ridge, Warren, Washington, Waynesboro, Weigelstown, West Chester, West Gosh

est Norriton, West View, White Oak, Whitehall, Wilkes-Barre, Wilkins Township, Wilkinsburg, Williamsport, Willow Grove, Willow Street, Wilson, Woodlyn, Wyomissing, Yeadon, York, Abbeville, Alexandria, Arabi, Baker, Bastrop, Baton Rouge, Bayou Cane, Belle Chasse, Bogalusa, Bossier City, Breaux Bridge, Bridge City, Brownsville-Bawcomville, Caren

aiborne, Covington, Crowley, De Ridder, Denham Springs, Destrehan, Donaldsonville, Eden Isle, Estelle, Eunice, Fort Polk South, Franklin, Galliano, Gardere, Gonzales, Gretna, Hammond, Harahan, Harvey, Houma, Jefferson, Jennings, Kenner, Lacombe, Lafayette, Lake Charles, Laplace, Larose, Leesville, Luling, Mandeville, Marrero, Meraux, Merryda

nden, Monroe, Morgan City, Moss Bluff, Natchitoches, New Iberia, New Orleans, Oak Hills Place, Oakdale, Opelousas, Pineville, Plaquemine, Prien, Raceland, Rayne, Reserve, River Ridge, Ruston, Scott, Shenandoah, Shreveport, Slidell, St. Martinville, St. Rose, Sulphur, Tallulah, Terrytown, Thibodaux, Timberlane, Village St. George, Ville Platte, Viol

est Monroe, Westwego, Woodmere, Zachary, Alachua, Altamonte Springs, Andover, Apollo Beach, Apopka, Arcadia, Atlantic Beach, Auburndale, Aventura, Avon Park, Azalea Park, Bartow, Bayonet Point, Bayshore Gardens, Beacon Square, Bee Ridge, Bellair-Meadowbrook Terrace, Belle Glade, Bellview, Beverly Hills, Bloomingdale, Boca Del Mar, Bo

onita Springs, Boynton Beach, Bradenton, Brandon, Brent, Broadview Park, Brooksville, Brownsville, Callaway, Cape Canaveral, Cape Coral, Carol City, Casselberry, Century Village, Cheval, Citrus Park, Citrus Ridge, Clearwater, Clermont, Clewiston, Cocoa, Cocoa Beach, Coconut Creek, Collier Manor-Cresthaven, Conway, Cooper City, Coral Gables, C

oral Terrace, Country Club, Country Walk, Crestview, Cutler, Cutler Ridge, Cypress Gardens, Cypress Lake, Dade City, Dania Beach, Davie, Daytona Beach, De Bary, De Land, Deerfield Beach, Delray Beach, Deltona, Destin, Doctor Phillips, Doral, Dunedin, East Lake, East Perrine, Edgewater, Eglin AFB, Egypt Lake-Leto, Elfers, Englewood, Ensley, Est

irview Shores, Fern Park, Fernandina Beach, Ferry Pass, Florida City, Florida Ridge, Forest City, Fort Lauderdale, Fort Myers, Fort Myers Beach, Fort Pierce, Fort Pierce North, Fort Walton Beach, Fountainbleau, Fruit Cove, Fruitville, Gainesville, Gibsonton, Gifford, Gladeview, Glenvar Heights, Golden Gate, Golden Glades, Golden Lakes, Goldenrod, G

eater Carrollwood, Greater Northdale, Greater Sun Center, Greenacres, Gulf Gate Estates, Gulfport, Haines City, Hallandale, Hamptons at Boca Raton, Hernando, Hialeah, Hialeah Gardens, Hobe Sound, Holiday, Holly Hill, Hollywood, Homestead, Homosassa Springs, Hudson, Hunters Creek, Immokalee, Indian Harbour Beach, Inverness, Inwood, Ion

es Estates, Jacksonville, Jacksonville Beach, Jasmine Estates, Jensen Beach, Jupiter, Kendale Lakes, Kendall, Kendall West, Key Biscayne, Key Largo, Key West, Keystone, Kings Point, Kissimmee, Lady Lake, Lake Butter, Lake City, Lake Lorraine, Lake Lucerne, Lake Magdalene, Lake Mary, Lake Parkm Lake Wales, Lake Worth, Lake Worth Corrido

akeland Highlands, Lakes by the Bay, Lakeside, Lakewood Park, Land O' Lakes, Lantana, Largo, Lauderdale Lakes, Lauderhill, Laurel, Leesburg, Lehigh Acres, Leisure City, Lighthouse Point, Live Oak, Lockhart, Longboat Key, Longwood, Lutz, Lynn Haven, Maitland, Mango, Marathon, Marco Island, Margate, Marianna, McGregor, Meadow Woods, Med

elbourne, Melrose Park, Memphis, Merritt Island, Miami, Miami Beach, Miami Lakes, Miami Shores, Miami Springs, Micco, Middleburg, Milton, Mims, Miramar, Mount Dora, Myrtle Grove, Naples, Naples Park, Neptune Beach, New Port Richey, New Port Richey East, New Smyrna Beach, Niceville, Norland, North Andrews Gardens, North Bay Village, N

orth Lauderdale, North Miami, North Miami Beach, North Palm Beach, North Port, North Sarasota, Oak Ridge, Oakland Park, Ocala, Ocoee, Ojus, Oldsmar, Olympia Heights, Opa-locka, Opa-locka North, Orange City, Orange Park, Orlando, Orlovista, Ormond Beach, Ormond-By-The-Sea, Oviedo, Pace, Palatka, Palm Bay, Palm Beach, Palm Beach Gard

alm Coast, Palm Harbor, Palm River-Clair Mel, Palm Springs, Palm Valley, Palmetto, Palmetto Estates, Panama City, Panama City Beach, Parkland, Pembroke Park, Pembroke Pines, Pensacola, Perry, Pine Castle, Pine Hills, Pinecrest, Pinellas Park, Pinewood, Plant City, Plantation, Poinciana, Pompano Beach, Pompano Beach Highlands, Port Charlo

range, Port Salerno, Port St. John, Port St. Lucie, Princeton, Punta Gorda, Quincy, Richmond Heights, Richmond West, Riverview, Riviera Beach, Rockledge, Rotonda, Royal Palm Beach, Ruskin, Safety Harbor, San Carlos Park, Sandalfoot Cove, Sanford, Sanibel, Sarasota, Sarasota Springs, Satellite Beach, Scott Lake, Sebastian, Sebring, Seminole,

esta Key, Silver Springs Shores, South Bradenton, South Daytona, South Highpoint, South Miami, South Miami Heights, South Patrick Shores, South Venice, Southeast Arcadia, Southgate, Spring Hill, Springfield, St. Augustine, St. Cloud, St. Pete Beach, St. Petersburg, Stuart, Sugarmill Woods, Sunny Isles Beach, Sunrise, Sunset, Sweetwater, Talla

marac, Tamiami, Tampa, Tarpon Springs, Tavares, Temple Terrace, The Crossings, The Hammocks, The Villages, Thonotosassa, Three Lakes, Titusville, Town 'n' Country, Treasure Island, Union Park, University, University Park, Upper Grand Lagoon, Valparaiso, Valrico, Venice, Venice Gardens, Vero Beach, Vero Beach South, Villas, Warrington, Wekiw

ellington, West Little River, West Melbourne, West Palm Beach, West Pensacola, West Perrine, West Vero Corridor, West and East Lealman, Westchase, Westchester, Westgate-Belvedere Homes, Weston, Westview, Westwood Lakes, Williamsburg, Wilton Manors, Winston, Winter Garden, Winter Haven, Winter Park, Winter Springs, Wright, Yeehaw Jun

ephyrhills, Alexandria, Ashland, Bardstown, Bellevue, Berea, Bowling Green, Buechel, Burlington, Campbellsville, Corbin, Covington, Cynthiana, Danville, Edgewood, Elizabethtown, Elsmere, Erlanger, Fairdale, Fern Creek, Flatwoods, Florence, Fort Campbell North, Fort Knox, Fort Mitchell, Fort Thomas, Frankfort, Franklin, Georgetown, Glasgow, Harro

enderson, Highland Heights, Highview, Hillview, Hopkinsville, Independence, Jeffersontown, Lawrenceburg, Leitchfield, Lexington-Fayette, Louisville, Lyndon, Madisonville, Mayfield, Maysville, Middlesborough, Mount Washington, Murray, Newburg, Newport, Nicholasville, Oak Grove, Oakbrook, Okolona, Owensboro, Paducah, Paris, Pikeville, Pleasure

inceton, Radcliff, Richmond, Russellville, Shelbyville, Shepherdsville, Shively, Somerset, St. Dennis, St. Matthews, Taylor Mill, Valley Station, Versailles, Villa Hills, Winchester
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In recent years our message has been clear and to the point: Tyler works.

Our products and services – and the professionals who deliver them – work

for our clients.  Our success works to provide ongoing opportunities for

our employees.  And our strategy – to stay intensely focused on meeting

the technology needs of the public sector – works for our shareholders.

This year our message is about realizing our full potential.

Our market size is estimated at more than $11 billion. Of all the compa-

nies serving the local government IT market, we believe Tyler has both

the largest client base and the broadest product line.  Yet our total rev-

enues make up less than 2% of that highly fragmented market.
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That spells REAL potential.

     



po.ten.tial (pe-tĕń -shel ) adj.
Possessing the capability
and capacity for growth.
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As we close 2005 and look to the future,

I am pleased to report that each of our major divisions is healthy  and in a strong position 

to continue to realize Tyler's potential

in the local government IT market."

2005 was a year of challenge, momentum and

success for our company. Disappointing

results from our Appraisal and Tax Division

during the first half of the year challenged us

to look inward – leading to an internal restruc-

turing during the second quarter. Growing

acceptance of our Odyssey courts software

created significant momentum for our Courts

and Justice Division – leading to a record

backlog of signed business at year-end. And

continued expansion of our financial suite of

products into new markets led to record rev-

enues for our Financials Division. By tackling

the challenges we faced in early 2005, we

now stand ready to fully capitalize on the

momentum and success shown later in the year,

which should make 2006 our best year ever. 

At Tyler, we increasingly consider free cash

flow to be a true measure of our financial per-

formance. With a high level of depreciation

and amortization, declining capital expendi-

ture requirements and complex accounting

rules for software revenue recognition that

often result in deferred revenue, we generate

free cash flow that is considerably greater

than our net income. Despite first half results

that were below expectations, our 2005 free

cash flow was a record $18.5 million (cash pro-

vided by operations of $21.2 million minus

capital expenditures of $2.7 million), a 21%

increase over free cash flow in 2004. And we

expect this trend to continue in the future,

particularly with the recent accounting rule

changes that will require us to recognize non-

cash expense related to stock-based compen-

sation beginning in 2006.

Building on a Strong Base

As we close 2005 and look to the future, I am

pleased to report that each of our major divi-

sions is healthy and in a strong position to

continue to realize Tyler’s potential in the

local government IT market. Our Financials

Division continues to expand its sales both

horizontally into new geographic markets and

vertically into larger market opportunities,

while at the same time broadening the scope

of its product offerings. In 2005 our Financials

Division had revenues in excess of $100 mil-

lion, a first for Tyler, executing contracts with

major customers such as the Indianapolis

Public Schools and the City of Durham, North

Carolina. We expect further growth from

these market-leading products in 2006, hav-

ing already started the year by signing a

major contract with the U.S. Virgin Islands.  

REALizingPOTENTIAL

To our shareholders:

0055
Building on a Strong Base

““AAss wwee cclloossee 22000055 aanndd llooookk ttoo tthhee ffuuttuurree,,

II aamm pplleeaasseedd ttoo rreeppoorrtt tthhaatt eeaacchh ooff oouurr mmaajjoorr ddiivviissiioonnss iiss hheeaalltthhyy  and in a strong position 

ttoo ccoonnttiinnuuee ttoo rreeaalliizzee TTyylleerr''ss ppootteennttiiaall

in the local government IT market.”

     



ealthy  and in a strong position 

ential

in the local government IT market."
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position 

government IT market.”

aanndd iinn aa ssttrroonngg ppoossiittiioonn 

iinn tthhee llooccaall ggoovveerrnnmmeenntt IITT mmaarrkkeett..””

    



Our Courts and Justice Division is beginning

to reap the benefits from our prior investment

in our Odyssey courts software, which contin-

ues to mature and gain momentum in the

marketplace. In the second half of 2005, we

signed contracts with two of the nation’s ten

largest counties. Already in 2006, we have

signed a contract with the Texas Conference

of Urban Counties, a consortium of 34 large

Texas counties, which includes a license fee

for Odyssey of approximately $12.4 million.

While continuing to target state and larger

county opportunities, we also expect to con-

tinue to expand sales of Odyssey into the mid-

size courts market, which should help provide

a more consistent revenue stream from this

product.

In 2005 we reorganized our Appraisal and Tax

Division, segregating management of apprais-

al services from software. Our new Appraisal

and Tax software product, Orion, was built on

the same Microsoft “best practices” technolo-

gy as Odyssey. We released Orion in late 2004

with the initial installation in the State of

Kansas. Our experience with Odyssey leads us

to believe that Orion will take some time to

build market acceptance and scale to the

point that it is a consistent contributor to

profits. We expect that, as with Odyssey, suc-

cess with Orion will occur over time. 

With respect to appraisal services, after

record performance during 2001 – 2003, the

market for appraisal services has returned to

its historical level with annual revenue of

approximately $18 million to $20 million. We

expect appraisal services revenues to remain

at these levels in the foreseeable future. With

this outlook, we reorganized that division to

better align costs with the expected revenue

base, including the elimination of approxi-

mately 120 positions. As a result, our appraisal

services margins improved significantly and

that business returned to profitability in the

second half of 2005. We expect the appraisal

services business to positively contribute to

earnings in the future, providing Tyler with an

incremental, complementary service offering

that differentiates us from our competitors.

REALizingPOTENTIAL

"...we believe we have the pieces in place 

to continue to realize our potential, and by doing so,

reward our stockholders, customers, and employees."

""......wwee bbeelliieevvee wwee hhaavvee tthhee ppiieecceess iinn ppllaaccee 

ttoo ccoonnttiinnuuee ttoo rreeaalliizzee oouurr ppootteennttiiaall,, aanndd bbyy ddooiinngg ssoo,,

rreewwaarrdd oouurr sshhaarreehhoollddeerrss,, ccuussttoommeerrss,, aanndd eemmppllooyyeeeess..""

  



Investing in the Future

Tyler’s free cash flow is very strong, and we

will continue to reinvest our cash in ways we

believe will maximize shareholders’ invest-

ment in Tyler. First, our software business,

which generates revenues from software

licenses, software services and maintenance,

has grown over the last five years at a com-

pound growth rate of 17% -- well above the

overall market rate. As we continue to grow,

we will continue to invest in our software

products to keep them competitive so that we

may sustain this growth over the long-term.

Today we have over 350 developers working

to enhance our software by adding new fea-

tures and functionality and incorporating new

technologies, with virtually all of those costs

being expensed. 

Second, we will selectively use cash to add

growth through acquisitions. In January 2006,

we acquired MazikUSA, Inc. and TACS, Inc., two

companies that give us new software products

for the local government market that we did

not previously offer. MazikUSA provides us

with a line of school management software

that complements the existing financial prod-

ucts we sell to school districts across the

nation. TACS adds pension administration soft-

ware products to our robust financial offering. 

Finally, we will at times invest our cash in

Tyler through stock repurchases. In 2005, we

repurchased 2.5 million shares of our common

stock at an average cost of $7.19 per share.

Since 2003, we have repurchased a total of 10

million shares of our stock. 

Primed for Success

Tyler enters 2006 with optimism and momen-

tum. We operate in a large and growing mar-

ket – one that is fragmented and without a

dominant competitor. We have a broad line of

products and services local governments

need. We deliver those products and services

through an incredibly strong team with

unmatched domain expertise and lasting cus-

tomer relationships. We have the financial

strength to develop superior products, ensur-

ing that our competitive position constantly

improves. We have the resources and cash

flow to fund growth both internally and

through acquisitions, and a highly leveragable

business model capable of expanding rev-

enues, earnings, and cash flow. We believe

that we have the necessary elements in place

to continue to realize our potential, and by

doing so, reward our shareholders, customers

and employees.
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While Tyler’s financial results in 2005 did not

meet our expectations, Tyler’s performance in

the second half of the year demonstrates we

have a solid foundation on which to build. We

finished the year with our 19th consecutive

profitable quarter and our free cash flow is sig-

nificantly greater than our net income. Tyler’s

management strength and deep domain

expertise derive from entrepreneurial passion

and our commitment to exceptional client serv-

ice. In 2005 we again made progress in stream-

lining the company. We integrated our sales

forces to more efficiently address the growing

market opportunity. And we reorganized our

appraisal services business to align its organi-

zation and cost structure with the revenue

base while maintaining superior client service. 

This year we also committed significant

resources to product development, although

much less of our product development costs

was capitalized than in recent years. While

we’re known for the solid functionality of our

products, we’re working with exciting new tech-

nology and cutting edge development tools.

This allows us to both update and improve our

existing proven products and expand our prod-

uct base. With the progress we’ve made, we’re

ready to take our clients to the next level with

their mission-critical systems.

There are four key questions our constituents

regularly ask: 

Is there significant market potential 
for our products and services?

Are we in a stable market that can 
survive changing market conditions?

Do we have the right strategy 
to grow our market share? 

Do we have a competitive advantage
that is clear to our clients 

and potential clients?

Our answer is a confident yes to each. 
We believe with this foundation we have the strength 

to reach the enormous potential before us.

REALizingPOTENTIAL

Real questions

      



“...in the aftermath of Hurricane Katrina, Tyler’s MUNIS
disaster recovery service proved its worth to the City.

With virtually all forms of communication shut down by the storm, when I
was able to contact Tyler via cell phone I found the team had already re-
constituted the Biloxi MUNIS database on their servers. They had anticipat-
ed that Biloxi would need to use the disaster recovery service.

During this time, everyone at Tyler showed genuine concern for our com-
munity.  All requests were handled professionally and quickly. The MUNIS
disaster recovery team provided the service that the City hoped for when
the plan was implemented. City of Biloxi officials
and employees wish to express our gratitude to
everyone on the MUNIS team for their support,
prayers and professional service during the weeks
after the hurricane.”

Sincerely,

Tom Reno, Database Manager
City of Biloxi Information Systems

The fact is the services provided to the public

sector, especially in the wake of a disaster,

must continue uninterrupted. The products

and services provided by Tyler Technologies

do just that – they allow cities, schools and

counties to operate seamlessly, efficiently, and

cost effectively for their citizens – however

challenging the conditions.

In addition to providing products and services

for our clients’ essential operations, the

potential to improve their operations is clear.

Along with our invaluable disaster recovery

solutions, we now have more than 50 clients

who subscribe to our ASP hosting solution,

which reduces costly overhead and allows

client personnel to focus on the business of

running their governments. And in Clark

County (Las Vegas), Nevada, we’re implement-

ing Tyler’s Odyssey case management soft-

ware, replacing four separate outdated court

systems with one state-of-the-art solution. 

Does the market need our products and servic-

es? One of the most dramatic examples of the

market’s need for our products and services is

conveyed by this graphic excerpt in a letter

from our client at the City of Biloxi, Mississippi

following Hurricane Katrina this past year:
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Tyler Technologies has a single focus: the pub-

lic sector and specifically, local governments.

Why is this a good market? Because our prod-

ucts and services are essential to the basic

functions of our clients’ operations, regardless

of market conditions. 

As the nation’s population continues to grow,

citizens’ needs for services from their govern-

ments grow. Cities, counties, school districts

and other local authorities have a multitude of

expanding responsibilities that must be met.

More homes to be assessed and taxed, more

cases to be tried in the courts, more students

to be educated in the schools. In good and

bad economic times, these services must be

delivered consistently and efficiently. Further,

citizens increasingly demand that the local

government services they pay for are cost

effective and easy to access.

Tyler is committed to providing products and

services that deliver results and a strong

return on our clients’ investments. Our prod-

ucts emphasize functionality. And we continu-

ally explore and develop new technologies

that enable our products to work more effi-

ciently. Our proven ability to deliver on time

and on budget helps assure our clients that

our system implementations will be success-

ful. And that they represent an outstanding

long-term value.

Tyler’s growth strategy is proving successful

and will allow us to continue to capture mar-

ket share and grow revenues, cash flow and

earnings. 

R E V E N U E  M I X

year ended 12/31/05 4%

software 
licenses

software 
services

maintenence

appraisal
services

17%

38%

11%

Q U A R T E R LY  E A R N I N G S  P E R  S H A R E

fully diluted

$0.08

$0.06

$0.04

$0.02

$0.00

Is our market a stable and growing market?

6.6.05
Tyler expands K-12 schools presence with five new contracts
totaling $2 million, including districts in Springfied, MO, and

Tucson, AZ.

6.16.05
City of Durham, NC, – $2.6 million contract for financial-based
software, services and on-going support.

00552005 snapshot:

Real growth strategy

REALizingPOTENTIAL

30%

Q1       Q2      Q3     Q4
’05     ’05    ’05     ’05

o
th

er

3.21.05
City of Wilmington, DE, selects Tyler's MUNIS software in $1.3 mil-
lion contract to improve financial processes.

                          



We continue to successfully expand the geo-

graphic reach of our products. With both

existing and new sales resources we are

actively marketing our products in areas of

the country where we previously had little or

no presence. This expansion builds on the stel-

lar long-term, referenceable customer rela-

tionships in our established regions. Virtually

all our products are now offered nationwide.

For example, our courts and justice product

has expanded from a presence in just two

states, Texas and Georgia, to new installations

of our Odyssey software in five additional

states (Minnesota, Florida, Pennsylvania, New

Hampshire and Nevada), plus expansion in

Texas and Georgia.

We are broadening our product line for local

governments, through both acquisition and

internal development. We acquired MazikUSA,

Inc., in January 2006 and can now offer a

school management system to manage appli-

cations such as grades, attendance and sched-

uling in K-12 schools. Our new product comple-

ments the financial, human resources and

payroll software we’ve already been providing

to school systems, including all schools in the

state of Kentucky, the Indianapolis public

schools and the San Jose, California schools.

We also acquired TACS, Inc., which gives us a

new software product for local government

pension administration.

In addition to acquisitions we have expanded

our product lines through our own in-house

development. For example, we developed new

solutions for computer-aided dispatch, police

records management and other applications

in the area of public safety. Our new public

safety products are now used by over 70

agencies nationwide, including police depart-

ments in Brownwood, Texas and Lynn Haven,

Florida.

A N N U A L  E A R N I N G S  P E R  S H A R E

fully diluted $0.25

$0.20

$0.15

$0.10

$0.05

$0.00

A N N U A L  S O F T W A R E - R E L A T E D  

R E V E N U E S

millions

’01  ’02 ’03 ’04 ’05

150

100

50

0

Geographic expansion New products

6.22.05
Tyler named as one of Fortune FSB Fastest-Growing Small

Public Companies.

6.29.05
Contract for $1.1 million with the Village of Menomonee Falls,
WI, for property tax assessment services.

7.12.05
$10 million contract awarded to Tyler by state of New Jersey for
statewide Property Assessment Management System.
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A N N U A L  T O T A L  R E V E N U E S

millions
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200
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* Excludes gain on sale of investment of $0.36

+ Includes restructuring charge of $0.02

                                             



In 2005 Tyler Technologies signed 18 con-

tracts valued at more than one million dollars

each. Those large contracts include a $10 mil-

lion property assessment system for the state

of New Jersey and Odyssey court case man-

agement systems for two of the nation’s ten

largest counties. These demonstrate our grow-

ing potential to serve larger clients. We are

not reducing our commitment to the small

and mid-sized entities that make up the vast

majority of local governments, but our con-

tract size continues to grow with more “Tier 1”

clients. Larger jurisdictions are recognizing

the power of the significant resources we

have devoted exclusively to software develop-

ment for local governments. We offer

the technology, scalability and financial

strength they expect.  

Tyler’s larger implementations are completed

on budget and run as smoothly as those for

our thousands of small and mid-size govern-

ment projects. Clients understand that the

unmatched domain expertise incorporated

into each of our products leads to faster, more

predictable implementations while eliminating

the need for custom solutions that are diffi-

cult to maintain.

In our markets word of our performance trav-

els fast.

Our systems are installed in over 6,000 local

government offices throughout all 50 states,

Puerto Rico, Canada and the United Kingdom.

Tyler has, we believe, the largest installed cus-

tomer base in the local government market.

Our high level of customer satisfaction is evi-

denced by our outstanding retention rate –

more than 98% of our clients renew their

annual maintenance and support agreements

each year.

Our clients provide a stable base of recurring

revenues while also presenting major growth

opportunities. Over time, we expect to expand

our existing relationships when clients replace

other software applications with additional

Tyler products.

Larger opportunities

8.1.05
West Hollywood, CA, and Albany, OR, sign contracts for
EDEN software, services, training and support.

10.3.05
$1.7 million contract signed in Warwick, RI, for property

revaluation services and new appraisal software.

10.11.05
$900,000 contract signed with San Jose, CA, Unified School
District for MUNIS financial-based software and services.

REALizingPOTENTIAL

"...in the aftermath of Hurricane Katrina,
Tyler's MUNIS disaster recovery service proved its worth...

City of Biloxi officals and employees wish to express  their gratitude..."

""......iinn tthhee aafftteerrmmaatthh ooff HHuurrrriiccaannee KKaattrriinnaa,,
Tyler's MUNIS disaster recovery service proved its worth...

CCiittyy ooff BBiillooxxii ooffffiiccaallss aanndd eemmppllooyyeeeess wish to express  their gratitude..."

Building on our customer base

          



One of Tyler’s most valuable attributes is our

deep domain experience. There is no substi-

tute for 25 plus years of successfully serving

the same type of clients.  We keep doing what-

ever it takes to get better and better at what

we do, with a singular focus on local govern-

ments.  And we continue to anticipate the

changing needs of our clients in product devel-

opment. Our research and development re-

sources are spent on making technology work

better for local governments.  Since we already

understand their needs and requirements, we

are a step ahead of competitors whose resources

are spread across many vertical markets.

Another Tyler advantage is that we take full

responsibility for our projects – development,

implementation, training, consulting and sup-

port. Our products and services are predomi-

nantly delivered by our own professional staff.

The fact that Tyler can provide a predictable,

turnkey solution is invaluable – particularly in

the public sector where officials must manage

public funds wisely.  They can’t afford the all

too typical cost overruns and delays associat-

ed with many of the large software providers.

Over time, the re-licensing of software with

version upgrades is a significant cost to users.

For many of our products Tyler eliminates this

cost and disruptions to our clients by provid-

ing version upgrades in our support agree-

ments.  Many clients have been with us for

more than 20 years, through multiple soft-

ware versions, under the original licensing

agreement.  Our customers view Tyler soft-

ware as an investment that will not become

obsolete, but will continue to improve and

evolve over time. The ability to stay on an up-

to-date system is an added value that results

in the long-term relationships and lasting

client loyalty we enjoy.

10.13.05
$1 million contract signed in Kalamazoo, MI, for EDEN soft-
ware, services, training and support.

10.26.05
Tyler signs $4.1 million contract to provide Odyssey Case
Management software to Miami-Dade County, FL.

11.3.05
Tyler announces contract to implement Odyssey court
case management software in Clark County (Las Vegas),
NV. The total estimated value of the contract is greater
than $4.5 million.
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Are Tyler’s competitive advantages clear?

12.19.05
Province of Nova Scotia, Canada signs $3.1 million con-

tract for property assessment software. 

a,
er's MUNIS disaster recovery service proved its worth...

es wish to express  their gratitude..."

TTyylleerr''ss MMUUNNIISS ddiissaasstteerr rreeccoovveerryy sseerrvviiccee pprroovveedd iittss wwoorrtthh......

wwiisshh ttoo eexxpprreessss  tthheeiirr ggrraattiittuuddee......""

           



Tyler’s capability and capacity for growth --
our potential -- is real. We serve the essential
needs of a stable and growing market. Our
growth strategy of geographic expansion,
new products and larger implementations
while building on our existing client base is
working. Our competitive advantages are
clear. Our operations and customer care are
exceptional. Our free cash flow was a record
high in 2005. And we have reported 19 con-
secutive profitable quarters. All the funda-
mentals are in place for Tyler to continue
realizing our potential at an even faster rate.

REALizingPOTENTIAL

 



and now for the REAL proof
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Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “TYL.” At December 31, 2005, we had approximately 2,300 stockholders of record. 

A number of our stockholders hold their shares in street name; therefore, there are substantially more than 2,300 beneficial owners of our common stock.

The following table sets forth for the calendar periods indicated the high and low sales price per share of our common stock as reported on the New York Stock Exchange.

H I G H L O W

2004: First Quarter $ 11.05 $ 8.75

Second Quarter 10.10 8.17

Third Quarter 9.47 7.97

Fourth Quarter 9.99 7.60

2005: First Quarter $ 8.45 $ 6.29

Second Quarter 7.90 5.25

Third Quarter 8.69 7.25

Fourth Quarter 9.15 7.88

2006: First Quarter (through February 27, 2006) $ 10.00 $ 8.40

We did not pay any cash dividends in 2005 or 2004. Our bank credit agreement contains restrictions on the payment of cash dividends. Also, we intend to retain 

earnings for use in the operation and expansion of our business, and, therefore, we do not anticipate declaring a cash dividend in the foreseeable future. 

S T O C K  M A R K E T  I N F O R M A T I O N
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The following table summarizes certain information related to our stock option plan and our Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”). There are no warrants or 

rights related to our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2005.

N U M B E R  O F  S E C U R I T I E S  R E M A I N I N G  
N U M B E R  O F  S E C U R I T I E S  T O  B E A V A I L A B L E  F O R  F U T U R E  I S S U A N C E    

I S S U E D  U P O N  E X E R C I S E  O F  O U T S T A N D I N G  W E I G H T E D  A V E R A G E  E X E R C I S E U N D E R  E Q U I T Y  C O M P E N S A T I O N  P L A N S  
O P T I O N S ,  W A R R A N T S  A N D  R I G H T S P R I C E  O F  O U T S T A N D I N G  O P T I O N S , ( E X C L U D I N G  S E C U R I T I E S  R E F L E C T E D  I N     

P L A N  C A T E G O R Y A S  O F  D E C E M B E R 3 1 , 2 0 0 5 W A R R A N T S  A N D  R I G H T S I N I T I A L  C O L U M N  A S  O F  D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 0 5 )

Equity compensation plans approved by 

security shareholders:

Stock options 4,607,590 $ 4.99 73,461

ESPP 29,658 7.46 755,477

Equity compensation plans not approved 

by security shareholders – – –

4,637,248 $ 5.01 828,938

During 2005, we purchased approximately 2.5 million shares of our common stock for an aggregate cash purchase price of $17.7 million. A summary of the repur-

chase activity during 2005 is as follows:

A D D I T I O N A L  M A X I M U M  N U M B E R  
T O T A L  N U M B E R  N U M B E R  O F  S H A R E S  A V E R A G E   O F  S H A R E S  T H A T  M A Y  

O F  S H A R E S   A U T H O R I Z E D  T H A T   P R I C E  P A I D  B E  R E P U R C H A S E D  U N D E R  
P E R I O D  R E P U R C H A S E D  M A Y  B E  R E P U R C H A S E D  P E R  S H A R E  C U R R E N T  A U T H O R I Z A T I O N  

Three months ended March 31 1,169,000 –   $ 6.93 1,352,000

Three months ended June 30 411,000 –   6.47 941,000

Three months ended September 30 601,000 –   7.76 340,000

Additional authorization by the board of directors –   2,000,000 –   2,340,000

October 1 through October 31 198,000 –   8.02 2,142,000

November 1 through November 30 37,000 –   8.10 2,105,000

December 1 through December 31 41,000 –   8.82 2,064,000

Total year ended December 31, 2005 2,457,000 2,000,000 $ 7.20 2,064,000

The repurchase program, which was approved by our board of directors, was announced in October 2002, and was amended in April and July 2003, October 2004

and October 2005. On October 25, 2005, our board of directors authorized the repurchase of an additional 2.0 million shares for a total authorization to repurchase

2.3 million shares of our common stock. As of December 31, 2005, we had remaining authorization to repurchase up to 2.1 million additional shares of our common

stock. There is no expiration date specified for the authorization and we intend to repurchase stock under the plan from time to time in the future. 
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I N  T H O U S A N D S ,  E X C E P T  P E R  S H A R E  D A T A
F O R  T H E  Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 , 2 0 0 5 2 0 0 4 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1   

Statement of Operations Data(1):

Revenues $ 170,457 $ 172,270 $ 145,454 $ 133,897 $ 118,816

Costs and expenses:

Cost of revenues 108,970 108,432 90,627 88,347 81,229

Selling, general and administrative expenses 46,242 45,451 38,390 33,914 30,830

Restructuring charge 1,260 — — — —

Amortization of customer and trade name intangibles(2) 1,266 1,267 925 897 4,466

Operating income 12,719 17,120 15,512 10,739 2,291

Realized gain on sale of investment in H.T.E., Inc.(3) – — 23,233 — —

Other income (expense), net 906 317 339 (698) (479)

Income from continuing operations before income taxes 13,625 17,437 39,084 10,041 1,812

Income tax provision 5,432 7,309 13,106 3,869 1,540

Income from continuing operations $ 8,193 $ 10,128 $ 25,978 $ 6,172 $ 272

Income from continuing operations per diluted share $ 0.19 $ 0.23 $ 0.58 $ 0.12 $ 0.01

Weighted average diluted shares 42,075 44,566 45,035 49,493 47,984

Statement of Cash Flows Data:

Cash flows provided by operating activities $ 21,187 $ 22,159 $ 22,535 $ 19,845 $ 12,744

Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities 1,820 (9,914) (590) (7,974) (9,706)

Cash flows used by financing activities (14,847) (9,940) (25,421) (3,398) (5,984)

Balance Sheet Data:

Total assets $ 194,437 $ 190,487 $ 186,396 $ 169,845 $ 146,975

Long-term obligations, less current portion – — — 2,550 2,910

Shareholders’ equity 112,197 118,400 117,907 118,656 100,884

(1) In December 2003, we acquired Eden Systems, Inc. (“Eden”), a provider of financial, personnel and citizen services software for local governments. These results

include the results of the operations of Eden from the date of its acquisition.

S E L E C T E D  F I N A N C I A L  D A T A

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                



(2) Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”. Under the

standard, goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are no longer amortized but are instead tested for impairment at least annually. In accor-

dance with the standard, results of operations for years prior to 2002 are reported under the previous accounting standards for goodwill and intangible assets.

Amortization expense net of income taxes, related to goodwill (including assembled workforce subsumed into goodwill) no longer expensed under the standard

was $2,960 in 2001. 

(3) On March 25, 2003, we received cash proceeds of $39.3 million in connection with a transaction to sell all of our 5.6 million shares of H.T.E., Inc. (“HTE”) common

stock to SunGard Data Systems Inc. for $7.00 cash per share. Our original cost basis in the HTE shares was $15.8 million. After transaction and other costs, we

recorded a gross realized gain of $23.2 million ($16.2 million or $0.36 per diluted share after income taxes of $7.0 million) for the year ended December 31, 2003.
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Forward Looking Statements 

In addition to historical information, this Annual Report contains forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements are made in reliance upon safe harbor

provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. The forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause

actual results to differ materially from those reflected in the forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause such a difference include, but are not limited to,

those discussed in Item 1A, “Risk Factors.”  Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which reflect management’s

opinions only as of the date hereof. We undertake no obligation to revise or publicly release the results of any revision to these forward-looking statements. Readers

should carefully review the risk factors described in this Annual Report and other documents we file from time to time with the SEC.

When used in this Annual Report, the words “believes,” “plans,” “estimates,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “continue,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “projects,” “fore-

casts,” “might,” “could” or the negative of such terms and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements.

Overview

We provide integrated information management solutions and services for local governments. We develop and market a broad line of software products and services

to address the information technology (“IT”) needs of cities, counties, schools and other local government entities. In addition, we provide professional IT services to

our customers, including software and hardware installation, data conversion, training and for certain customers, product modifications, along with continuing main-

tenance and support for customers using our systems. We also provide property appraisal outsourcing services for taxing jurisdictions.

Our products are generally grouped into four major areas:

•  Financials;

•  Courts and Justice;

•  Property Appraisal and Tax; and

•  Document Management.

We monitor and analyze several key performance indicators in order to manage our business and evaluate our financial and operating performance. These indica-

tors include the following:

Revenues. We derive our revenues from four primary sources: sale of software licenses; software services; appraisal services; and maintenance and support.

Because we sell primarily “off-the-shelf” software, increased sales of software products generally result in incrementally higher gross margins. Thus, the most signif-

icant driver to our business is the number and size of software license sales. In addition, new software license sales generally generate implementation services rev-

enues as well as future maintenance and support revenues, which we view as a recurring revenue source. We also monitor our customer base and churn since our

maintenance and support revenue should increase due to our historically low customer turnover. 
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Cost of Revenues and Gross Margins. Our primary cost component is personnel expenses in connection with providing software implementation and appraisal serv-

ices to our customers. We can improve gross margins by controlling headcount and related costs and by expanding our revenue base, especially from those products

and services that produce incremental revenue with minimal incremental cost, such as software licenses and maintenance and support. Our appraisal projects are

seasonal in nature, and we often employ appraisal personnel on a short-term basis to coincide with the life of a project. 

Selling, General and Administrative (“SG&A”) Expenses. The primary components of SG&A expense are administrative and sales personnel salaries and commis-

sions, marketing expense, research and development costs, rent and professional fees. Sales commissions generally fluctuate with revenues but other administrative

expenses tend to grow at a slower rate than revenues; however, these costs have recently grown disproportionately because of the requirements of corporate gover-

nance legislation. Research and development costs fluctuate from year-to-year depending on product development activity.

Liquidity and Cash Flows. The primary driver of our cash flows is net income. In addition, 2003 cash flow was positively impacted when we sold our investment in

H.T.E., Inc. and received $39.3 million in cash proceeds. Uses of cash include capital investments in software development and property and equipment and the dis-

cretionary purchases of treasury stock. In 2005, we purchased 2.5 million shares of our common stock at an aggregate cash purchase price of $17.7 million. Our

working capital needs are fairly stable throughout the year with the significant components of cash outflows being payment of personnel expenses offset by cash

inflows representing collection of accounts receivable and cash receipts from customers in advance of revenue being earned.

Balance Sheet. Cash, accounts receivable and days sales outstanding and deferred revenue balances are important indicators of our business.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accor-

dance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”). The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and

judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, the reported amounts of revenues, cost of revenues and

expenses during the reporting period, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. The Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included as part

of this Annual Report describe our significant accounting policies used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. On an on-going basis, we evalu-

ate our estimates, including, but not limited to, those related to intangible assets, bad debts and our service contracts. We base our estimates on historical experi-

ence and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about

the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assump-

tions or conditions. 

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

                           



Revenue Recognition. We recognize revenues in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Position (“SOP”) 97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition,” as amend-

ed by SOP 98-4 and SOP 98-9, as well as Technical Practice Aids issued from time to time by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and in accor-

dance with the Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104 “Revenue Recognition.” We recognize revenue on our appraisal services con-

tracts using the proportionate performance method of accounting, with considerations for the provisions of Emerging Issue Task Force No. 00-21, “Revenue

Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.”  Our revenues are derived from sale of software licenses, appraisal services, maintenance and support, and services that

typically range from installation, training and basic consulting to software modification and customization to meet specific customer needs. For multiple element

software arrangements, which do not entail the performance of services that are considered essential to the functionality of the software, we generally record rev-

enue when the delivered products or performed services result in a legally enforceable and non-refundable claim. We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts and

sales adjustments, which are provided at the time the revenue is recognized. Because most of our customers are governmental entities, we rarely incur a loss result-

ing from the inability of a customer to make required payments. In a limited number of cases, we encounter a customer who is dissatisfied with some aspect of the

software product or our service, and we may offer a “concession” to such customer. In those limited situations where we grant a concession, we rarely reduce the

contract arrangement fee, but alternatively may perform additional services, such as additional training or programming a minor feature the customer had in their

prior software solution. These amounts have historically been considered nominal.   In connection with our customer contracts and the adequacy of related

allowances and measures of progress towards contract completion, our project managers are charged with the responsibility to continually review the status of each

customer on a specific contract basis. Also, management at our corporate offices as well as at our operating companies review, on at least a quarterly basis, signifi-

cant past due accounts receivable and the adequacy of related reserves.  Events or changes in circumstances that indicate that the carrying amount for the

allowances for doubtful accounts and sales adjustments may require revision, include, but are not limited to, deterioration of a customer’s financial condition, failure

to manage our customer’s expectations regarding the scope of the services to be delivered, and defects or errors in new versions or enhancements of our software

products.

For those software arrangements that include customization of the software, which is considered essential to its functionality, and for substantially all real estate

appraisal outsourcing projects, we recognize revenue and profit as the work progresses using the percentage-of-completion method and the proportionate perform-

ance method of revenue recognition. These methods rely on estimates of total expected contract revenue, billings and collections and expected contract costs, as

well as measures of progress toward completion. We believe reasonably dependable estimates of revenue and costs and progress applicable to various stages of a

contract can be made. At times, we perform additional and/or non-contractual services for little to no incremental fee to satisfy customer expectations. If changes

occur in delivery, productivity or other factors used in developing our estimates of expected costs or revenues, we revise our cost and revenue estimates, and any

revisions are charged to income in the period in which the facts that give rise to that revision first become known. 

We use contract accounting, primarily the percentage-of-completion method, for those software arrangements that include customization or modification of the

software, or where our software services are otherwise considered essential to the functionality of the software. In addition, we recognize revenue using the propor-

tionate performance method of revenue recognition for our property appraisal projects, some of which can range up to three years.  In connection with these and

certain other contracts, we may perform the work prior to when the services are billable and/or payable pursuant to the contract. The termination clauses in most

of our contracts provide for the payment for the fair value of products delivered and services performed in the event of an early termination. In connection with cer-
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tain of our contracts, we have recorded retentions receivable or unbilled receivables consisting of costs and estimated profit in excess of billings as of the balance

sheet date. Many of the contracts which give rise to unbilled receivables at a given balance sheet date are subject to billings in the subsequent accounting period.

Management reviews unbilled receivables and related contract provisions to ensure we are justified in recognizing revenue prior to billing the customer and that we

have objective evidence which allows us to recognize such revenue. In addition, we have a sizable amount of deferred revenue which represents billings in excess of

revenue earned. This liability primarily consists of maintenance billings in which payments are made in advance and the revenue is ratably earned over the mainte-

nance period, generally one year. We also have deferred revenue for those contracts in which we receive a deposit and the conditions in which to record revenue for

the service or product has not been met. On a periodic basis, we review by customer the detail components of our deferred revenue to ensure our accounting

remains appropriate.

Intangible Assets and Goodwill. Our business acquisitions typically result in the creation of goodwill and other intangible asset balances, and these balances affect

the amount and timing of future period amortization expense, as well as expense we could possibly incur as a result of an impairment charge. The cost of acquired

companies is allocated to identifiable tangible and intangible assets based on estimated fair value, with the excess allocated to goodwill. Accordingly, we have a sig-

nificant balance of acquisition date intangible assets, including software, customer related intangibles, trade name and goodwill. In addition, we capitalize software

development costs incurred subsequent to the establishment of technological feasibility. Certain of these intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful

lives. All intangible assets with definite and indefinite lives are reviewed for impairment annually or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the

carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of goodwill is generally measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to its fair

value, generally determined by estimated future net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. Recoverability of other intangible assets is generally meas-

ured by comparison of the carrying amount to estimated undiscounted future cash flows. The assessment of recoverability or of the estimated useful life for amorti-

zation purposes will be affected if the timing or the amount of estimated future operating cash flows is not achieved. Events or changes in circumstances that indi-

cate the carrying amount may not be recoverable include, but are not limited to, a significant decrease in the market value of the business or asset acquired, a sig-

nificant adverse change in the extent or manner in which the business or asset acquired is used, or a significant adverse change in the business climate. In addition,

products, capabilities, or technologies developed by others may render our software products obsolete or non-competitive.
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Analysis of Results of Operations and Other

The following discussion compares the historical results of operations on a basis consistent with GAAP for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003. 

These results include the results of the operations of Eden from the date of its acquisition on December 2, 2003. See Note 2 in the Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements.

2005 Compared to 2004

Revenues

The following table sets forth a comparison of the key components of our revenues for the following years ended December 31:

%  O F %  O F 2 0 0 5  V S .  2 0 0 4   
( $  I N  T H O U S A N D S ) 2 0 0 5 T O T A L 2 0 0 4 T O T A L $ %   

Software licenses $ 29,552 17 % $ 30,258 18 % $ (706) (2)%

Software services 51,532 30 49,786 29 1,746 4

Maintenance 64,728 38 57,760 33 6,968 12

Appraisal services 18,374 11 27,394 16 (9,020) (33)

Hardware and other 6,271 4 7,072 4 (801) (11)

Total revenues $ 170,457 100 % $ 172,270 100 % $ (1,813) (1) % 

Software licenses. Changes in software license revenues consist of the following components:

• Software license revenue related to financial products, which comprise approximately 80% of our software license revenues in the years presented, increased

slightly compared to the prior year primarily due to third party software products which enhance the functionality of our proprietary software. Our financial 

software products automate accounting systems for cities, counties, school districts, public utilities and not-for-profit organizations.

• Software license revenue related to our Odyssey courts and justice product declined in 2005 compared to 2004. The prior year was unusually high because it

included approximately $900,000 of license fees earned upon final acceptance for two original Odyssey installation sites. In 2005 we had fifteen Odyssey 

contracts in process compared to seven Odyssey contracts in 2004. The implementation cycle for Odyssey products ranges from nine to thirty-six months 

depending on the scope of the contract and modification complexity.  We have recognized revenue on these contracts using contract accounting. 

Software services. Changes in software services revenues consist of the following components:

• Software services revenue related to financial products, which comprise more than half of our software service revenue in the years presented, increased moder-
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ately in 2005 compared to the prior year. Typically, software contracts include services such as installing the software, converting the customers’ data to be com-

patible with the software and training customer personnel to use the software. Approximately one-half of our financial software services revenue increase related

to training and the remaining increases were due to new customers for our application service provider hosting and disaster recovery services and other miscella-

neous services. We increased our training staff in 2005 which enabled us to deliver our backlog at a faster rate.

• Software services revenue related to our Odyssey courts and justice product increased significantly in 2005 compared to the prior year mainly due to a new $1.4

million contract for follow-on services to an existing customer that had previously implemented and accepted the software.

• Software services revenue related to appraisal and tax products declined substantially in 2005. This decline was mainly associated with the completion of several

legacy appraisal and tax contracts in 2004 and early 2005. 

Maintenance. We provide maintenance and support services for our software products and third party software. Maintenance revenues increased due to growth in

our installed customer base as evidenced by our software license revenue and slightly higher maintenance rates on certain product lines.   

Appraisal services. The decrease in appraisal services revenues is due to the completion in 2004 of certain significant appraisal contracts.    These larger projects

are often relatively discretionary in nature compared to smaller projects which tend to occur on a more consistent basis, and the larger projects we recently com-

pleted have not been replaced by similar projects. The appraisal services business is driven in part by revaluation cycles in various states and based on our new

business pipeline, we expect that appraisal services revenues in the foreseeable future will remain at historically low levels consistent with 2005. 

Cost of Revenues and Gross Margins

The following table sets forth a comparison of the key components of our cost of revenues and associated gross margins, and those components stated as a per-

centage of related revenues for the following years ended December 31:

%  O F  R E L A T E D %  O F  R E L A T E D 2 0 0 5  V S .  2 0 0 4   
( $  I N  T H O U S A N D S ) 2 0 0 5 R E V E N U E S 2 0 0 4 R E V E N U E S $ %   

Software licenses $ 9,101 31 % $ 8,819 29 % $ 282 3 %

Acquired software 794 3 1,447 5 (653) (45)

Software services & maintenance 80,347 69 72,609 68 7,738 11

Appraisal services 14,188 77 20,132 73 (5,944) (30)

Hardware and other 4,540 72 5,425 77 (885) (16)

Total cost of revenues $ 108,970 64 % $ 108,432 63 % $ 538 0 %

Overall gross margin 36 % 37 %
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Cost of software license revenues. The main component of our cost of software license revenues is amortization expense for capitalized development costs on cer-

tain software products, with third party software costs making up the balance. Once a new product is released, we begin to amortize the costs associated with its

development. Amortization expense is determined on a product-by-product basis at an annual rate not less than straight-line basis over the product’s estimated life,

but not to exceed five years. Development costs consist mainly of personnel costs, such as salary and benefits paid to our developers. Amortization expense for cap-

italized software products declined from $6.1 million in 2004 to $5.9 million in 2005, because certain software products became fully amortized during 2005, which

offset new amortization expense from software products released in 2004. 

Cost of acquired software. When we complete an acquisition we allocate the excess purchase price over the fair value of net tangible assets acquired to amortiz-

able software, customer and trade name intangibles, with the remainder allocated to goodwill that is not subject to amortization. Amortization expense of acquired

software is recorded as cost of revenues while amortization expense of other acquisition intangibles is recorded as amortization of customer and trade name intan-

gibles. In 2005 cost of acquired software declined compared to the prior year because certain acquired software assets recorded for previous acquisitions became

fully amortized. The estimated useful life of acquired software ranges from 3 to 5 years.  Estimated annual amortization expense relating to acquired software,

excluding acquisitions completed in 2006, for the next five years is as follows (in thousands):

2 0 0 6 2 0 0 7 2 0 0 8 2 0 0 9 2 0 1 0   

$ 794 $ 742 $ 680 $ 0 $ 0

We have not finalized the allocation of the excess purchase price over the fair value of the net identifiable assets for the companies acquired in January 2006, but

expect this allocation will significantly increase related amortization expense over the next five years. 

Cost of software services and maintenance revenues. Cost of software services and maintenance revenues primarily consists of expenses such as personnel costs

related to installation of our software products, conversion of customer data, training customer personnel, support activities and various other services such as

application service provider (“ASP”) and disaster recovery. In 2005 cost of software services and maintenance grew 11% while the related software services and

maintenance revenues increased 8% compared to the prior year period.   During 2005, costs increased at a faster rate than related software services and mainte-

nance revenues, which reflects lower utilization of personnel in our appraisal and tax software division, costs to support our recently released Orion products, a shift

in the roles of certain of our development personnel whose costs were capitalized in 2004 to projects that were expensed in 2005, and higher health care costs.   

Cost of appraisal services revenues. The decline in the cost of appraisal services revenues is the result of lower appraisal services revenues. We often hire tempo-

rary employees to assist in appraisal projects whose term of employment generally ends with the projects’ completion. In addition, in the second quarter of 2005 we

made significant organizational changes to our appraisal services division because of the declining gross margins. See “Restructuring Charge.”

Gross margin. The overall gross margin for 2005 was 36% compared to 37% in 2004. The margin decline was due to cost inefficiencies associated with lower

appraisal services revenues and efforts and costs to support our recently released Orion products, as well as a shift in the roles of certain of our development per-

sonnel whose costs were capitalized in 2004 to projects that are being expensed in 2005 and higher health care costs.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 

The following table sets forth a comparison of our selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses for the following years ended December 31:

%  O F %  O F 2 0 0 5  V S .  2 0 0 4   
( $  I N  T H O U S A N D S ) 2 0 0 5 T O T A L 2 0 0 4 T O T A L $ %   

Selling, general and administrative expenses $ 46,242 27 % $ 45,451 26 % $ 791 2 % 

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased mainly due to higher health care costs and an increase in the number of marketing personnel. These increas-

es were offset somewhat by lower consulting fees associated with documenting our internal control processes. 

Restructuring Charge

Because of unsatisfactory financial performance early in 2005, we made significant organizational changes to those areas of our business that were not performing

to our expectations. Our goal was to bring costs in line with expected levels of revenue while improving the efficiency of our organizational structure to ensure that

clients continue to receive superior service.

We currently anticipate that revenues in our appraisal services business are likely to remain at historically low levels in the foreseeable future, consistent with 2005

and have reorganized that division to eliminate levels of management and reduce overhead expense. We have also taken action to reduce headcount and costs in

our appraisal and tax software division. These cost reductions were made in the second quarter of 2005. As a result, we reduced headcount in the appraisal services

and appraisal and tax software businesses, as well as in the corporate office, by eliminating approximately 120 positions, including management, staff and project-

related personnel. Additionally we have made changes in both management personnel and organizational structures at those business units and have reorganized

our corporate structure to consolidate certain senior management positions.

In connection with the reorganization, we incurred certain charges in the second quarter of 2005. Those charges, which were primarily comprised of employee sev-

erance costs and related fringe benefits, totaled approximately $1.3 million before income taxes. The related payments were made during the second and third quar-

ter in 2005. 

Amortization of Customer and Trade Name Intangibles

Acquisition intangibles are composed of the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net tangible assets acquired that is allocated to acquired and amorti-

zable software, customer and trade name intangibles with the remainder allocated to goodwill that is not subject to amortization. However, amortization expense

related to acquired software is included with cost of revenues while amortization expense of customer and trade name intangibles is recorded as a non-operating

                                      



27

expense. The estimated useful lives of customer and trade name intangibles are 20 to 25 years and 5 to 25 years, respectively. The following table sets forth a com-

parison of amortization of customer and trade name intangibles for the following years ended December 31:

2 0 0 5  V S .  2 0 0 4
( $  I N  T H O U S A N D S ) 2 0 0 5 2 0 0 4 $ %   

Amortization of customer and trade name tangibles $ 1,266 $ 1,267 $ (1) – % 

Estimated annual amortization expense relating to customer and trade name acquisition intangibles, excluding acquired software for which the amortization

expense is recorded as cost of revenues and excluding acquisitions completed in 2006,  for the next five years is as follows (in thousands):

2 0 0 6 2 0 0 7 2 0 0 8 2 0 0 9 2 0 1 0   

$ 1,266 $ 1,266 $ 1,241 $ 1,155 $ 1,155

Other

Interest income is the main component of other income, which also includes non-usage and other fees associated with our credit agreement, gain on sale of certain

assets, gain on risk management assets associated with a foreign exchange contract and miscellaneous other items. Other income increased compared to 2004

mainly due to higher interest rates and a small gain on sale of certain assets.

Income Tax Provision

The following table sets forth a comparison of our income tax provision for the following years ended December 31:

2 0 0 5  V S .  2 0 0 4
( $  I N  T H O U S A N D S ) 2 0 0 5 2 0 0 4 $ %   

Income tax provision $ 5,432 $ 7,309 $ (1,877) (26) %

Effective income tax rate 40 % 42 % 

The effective income tax rate declined 2% from 2004 due to the qualified manufacturing activities deduction enacted in 2005 and a corporate reorganization in

2005 which favorably impacted our state income tax provision.  

                                                                    



2004 Compared to 2003

Revenues

The following table sets forth a comparison of the key components of our revenues for the following years ended December 31:

%  O F %  O F 2 0 0 4  V S .  2 0 0 3   
( $  I N  T H O U S A N D S ) 2 0 0 4 T O T A L 2 0 0 3 T O T A L $ %   

Software licenses $ 30,258 18 % $ 25,914 18 % $ 4,344 17 %

Software services 49,786 29 37,128 25 12,658 34

Maintenance 57,760 33 47,157 32 10,603 22

Appraisal services 27,394 16 30,011 21 (2,617) (9)

Hardware and other 7,072 4 5,244 4 1,828 35

Total revenues $ 172,270 100 % $ 145,454 100 % $ 26,816 18 % 

Software licenses. For the year ended December 31, 2004, software license revenues included $3.5 million related to Eden Systems, compared to $100,000 for the

same prior year period. Excluding the software license revenue related to Eden, the increase in software license revenues from 2003 to 2004 was approximately

$900,000 or 3%. The change was the result of the following factors: 

• Financials software license revenues, which comprise approximately two-thirds of our software license revenues in the years presented (excluding Eden),

increased $4.9 million due to a combination of geographic expansion on the west coast and in the southwest United States, and an increase in our implementation

staff, which has allowed us to install software products more quickly. In addition, the completion in March 2004 of software enhancements to one of our financial

software products has enabled us to expand into larger cities and counties, resulting in larger contracts. 

• Courts and justice software license revenues decreased $3.5 million compared to the prior year with approximately $1.4 million of the decline due to lower rev-

enues from Odyssey courts and justice product. In September 2003, we successfully installed the first phase of Odyssey in the State of Minnesota and Lee County,

Florida. The contract with the State of Minnesota was the largest software contract in our history, and we recorded $3.4 million of software license revenue in

2003 for both Minnesota and Lee County. In 2004, we had seven Odyssey contracts in process, several of which began late in the year. We recognized revenue on

these contracts using contract accounting and recorded approximately $2.0 million of revenue for Odyssey contracts in 2004. The remaining decline reflects lower

sales of our legacy courts and justice products. 

Software services. Software services revenues increased $4.9 million, or 13%, compared to the prior year period after excluding the increase in software services

revenues generated by Eden of $7.7 million. Higher software services revenues were attributable to the following factors:
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• Excluding Eden, software services revenues from our financials products comprised almost half of our software service revenue in the years presented and were

$2.5 million, or 14%, higher in 2004, primarily as a result of the increase in related software licenses sales over the prior year. Increased staffing levels also

allowed for faster implementation of our backlog. In addition, we expanded our ASP and disaster recovery markets, which contributed approximately $750,000 to

the increase in 2004.

• Software services revenues related to appraisal and tax software products for the year ended December 31, 2004 were $1.6 million higher than the prior year.

Sales of Orion, our new appraisal and tax product generated approximately $1.4 million of the increase.

• In 2004, our document management division entered into a $1.9 million contract to convert data into a microfilm format, which generated a $675,000 increase in

software services revenue over the prior year. 

Maintenance. Maintenance revenues for the year ended December 31, 2004 included $4.1 million from Eden, compared to $300,000 for the same prior year period.

Excluding the impact of Eden, maintenance revenues during the year ended December 31, 2004 increased approximately 15% compared to 2003 due to growth in

our installed customer base and slightly higher maintenance rates on certain product lines. 

Appraisal services. The decrease in appraisal services revenues is due to the completion of certain significant appraisal contracts, particularly the completion of our

contract with Lake County, Indiana in the fourth quarter of 2003. 

Cost of Revenues and Gross Margins

The following table sets forth a comparison of the key components of our cost of revenues and associated gross margins, and those components stated as a per-

centage of related revenues for the following years ended December 31:

%  O F  R E L A T E D %  O F  R E L A T E D 2 0 0 4  V S .  2 0 0 3   
( $  I N  T H O U S A N D S ) 2 0 0 4 R E V E N U E S 2 0 0 3 R E V E N U E S $ %   

Software licenses $ 8,819 29 % $ 6,610 26 % $ 2,209 33 %

Acquired software 1,447 5 2,006 8 (559) (28)

Software services & maintenance 72,609 68 56,892 67 15,717 28

Appraisal services 20,132 73 21,275 71 (1,143) (5)

Hardware and other 5,425 77 3,844 73 1,581 41

Total cost of revenues $ 108,432 63 % $ 90,627 62 % $ 17,805 20 %

Overall gross margin 37 % 38 %
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Cost of software license revenues. The increase is related to the general release of several software development products and the commencement of the related

amortization expense. Product releases in 2004 include Orion appraisal and tax products and an enhancement to one of our financial products. Amortization

expense for 2004 also includes a full year of expense related to the Odyssey courts and justice product versus only four months in 2003.   

Cost of acquired software. In 2004 cost of acquired software declined compared to 2003 because certain acquired software assets recorded for previous acquisi-

tions became fully amortized beginning mid 2003 and throughout 2004. This decline was offset somewhat by the amortization expense for acquisition software

recorded for the acquisition of Eden in December 2003. 

Cost of software services and maintenance revenues. During the year ended December 31, 2004, Eden contributed cost of software services and maintenance rev-

enues of $7.9 million, compared to $500,000 in the prior year. Excluding Eden, cost of software services and maintenance revenues increased $8.3 million, or 15%,

during 2004. In 2004 we added additional staff to provide faster implementation of our backlog. Excluding Eden, software services and maintenance revenues

increased 14% for the year ended December 31, 2004 compared to 2003. Cost of software services and maintenance revenues increased more than the associated

revenues due to the time required to train and orient additional personnel hired during 2004 before they can effectively perform revenue-generating tasks, such as

training and implementations. In addition, expenses increased as the costs related to certain employees who previously worked on new software development prod-

ucts ceased to be capitalized as those projects were completed and these employees moved into implementation and support functions.

Cost of appraisal services revenues. The decline in the cost of appraisal services revenues is consistent with lower appraisal services revenues. In 2004, appraisal

revenues declined at a faster rate than cost of appraisal revenues due to the use of subcontractors to supplement our appraisal staff on some of our larger con-

tracts during 2004, resulting in lower margins. The nature and timing of these contracts required us to retain staff on either short notice or with specific qualifica-

tions, thus increasing the associated costs as a percentage of appraisal revenues.

Gross margin. Excluding the results of Eden, our gross margin for 2004 was 37% compared to 38% in the prior year. The decline in gross margin from the prior year

period was due to the following factors:

• Higher amortization costs of our software development products released from mid-year 2003 through 2004; and

• The utilization of sub-contractors by our property appraisal and tax and document management divisions during 2004.

                                                                           



Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 

The following table sets forth a comparison of our selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses for the following years ended December 31:

%  O F %  O F 2 0 0 4  V S .  2 0 0 3   
( $  I N  T H O U S A N D S ) 2 0 0 4 R E V E N U E S 2 0 0 3 R E V E N U E S $ %   

Selling, general and administrative expenses $ 45,451 26 % $ 38,390 26 % $ 7,061 18 %

SG&A associated with Eden amounted to $4.4 million in 2004 compared to $350,000 in 2003. Excluding Eden, SG&A increased 8% year-over-year. The increase in

SG&A is a result of the following factors:

• Costs to comply with corporate governance and public disclosure requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and New York Stock Exchange rules, including

those associated with documenting and testing internal controls. Compliance costs were very high and significantly exceeded our original estimates. These costs

consisted of the engagement of a third party firm to consult with us on the development and testing of our controls, as well as the incremental costs associated

with the independent auditors attesting to the effectiveness of these controls. While some of the expenses we incurred in 2004 may be considered “one-time”

costs, it is clear that the new regulatory environment places an expensive burden on companies that will continue into the future; 

• Increased headcount in our sales and marketing areas to support geographic expansion;

• Higher commissions related to higher revenue levels; and

• Higher research and development costs. 

Amortization of Customer and Trade Name Intangibles

Amortization of customer and trade name intangibles increased in 2004 because it included a full year of amortization expense related to the December 2003 acqui-

sition of Eden.

Realized Gain on Sale of Investment in H.T.E., Inc.

On March 25, 2003, we received cash proceeds of $39.3 million in connection with a transaction to sell all of our 5.6 million shares of H.T.E., Inc. (“HTE”) common

stock to SunGard Data Systems Inc. for $7.00 cash per share. Our original cost basis in the HTE shares was $15.8 million. After transaction and other costs, we

recorded a gross realized gain of $23.2 million ($16.2 million or $0.36 per diluted share after income taxes of $7.0 million) for the year ended December 31, 2003.
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Income Tax Provision

The following table sets forth a comparison of our income tax provision for the following years ended December 31:

2 0 0 4  V S .  2 0 0 3
( $  I N  T H O U S A N D S ) 2 0 0 4 2 0 0 3 $ %   

Income tax provision $ 7,309 $ 13,106 $ (5,797) (44) %

Effective income tax rate 42 % 34 %

The effective income tax rates for the periods presented were different from the statutory United States federal income tax rate of 35% primarily due to the utiliza-

tion of the capital loss carryforward in 2003, increased state income taxes and non-deductible meals and entertainment costs. 

The income tax provision for the year ended December 31, 2003 includes income tax expense of $7.0 million relating to the realized gain from the sale of our invest-

ment in HTE (after reduction in valuation allowance related to the utilization of a capital loss carryforward amounting to $1.1 million on a tax-effected basis). For

2003, we had an effective income tax rate of 38% (excluding the effect of the HTE gain) compared to 42% in 2004.  The majority of the increase was due to higher

state income taxes because in 2004 we had more sales and profitability in highly taxed states than in the prior year.

Discontinued Operations

One of our non-operating subsidiaries, Swan Transportation Company (“Swan”), had been involved in various claims raised by former employees of a foundry that

was owned by an affiliate of Swan and Tyler prior to December 1995. These claims were for alleged work-related injuries and physical conditions resulting from

alleged exposure to silica, asbestos, and/or related industrial dusts. After a series of bankruptcy court filings involving Swan, on December 23, 2003, Tyler in accor-

dance with the terms of the plan of reorganization, transferred the stock of Swan to the Swan Asbestos and Silica Trust (the “Trust”), an unaffiliated entity that will

oversee the processing and payment of all present and future claims related to the foundry. On December 23, 2003, we paid $1.48 million to the Trust in full and

final release from all liability for claims associated with the once-owned foundry (the “Swan Matter”). As a result of the release, any claimant is barred from assert-

ing any such claim, either now or in the future, against Tyler or its affected affiliates. During the year ended December 31, 2003, the gain on disposal of discontin-

ued operations of $424,000 primarily resulted because we fully settled the Swan Matter at an amount less than initially recorded and certain aspects of the settle-

ment were structured in a beneficial tax manner. Accordingly, we recognized for the first time certain tax benefits associated with payments on behalf of the Swan

Matter.
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Net Income

The following table sets forth a comparison of our net income, earnings per diluted share, income from continuing operations per diluted share and diluted weighted

average shares outstanding for the following years ended December 31:

2 0 0 4  V S .  2 0 0 3
( $  I N  T H O U S A N D S ) 2 0 0 4 2 0 0 3 $ %   

Net income $ 10,128 $ 26,402 $ (16,274) (62) %

Earnings per diluted share 0.23 0.59 (0.36) (61)

Income from continuing operations per diluted share 0.23 0.58 (0.35) (60)

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 44,566 45,035 (469) (1)

Net income for the twelve months ended December 31, 2003 included a $16.2 million realized gain after income taxes relating to the sale of our investment in HTE,

which had a diluted earnings per share effect of $0.36 per diluted share.

Financial Condition and Liquidity

Historically, we have funded our operations and cash expenditures primarily with cash generated from operating activities. As of December 31, 2005, our balance in

cash and cash equivalents was $20.7 million and we had short-term investments of $11.7 million, compared to cash and cash equivalents of $12.6 million and short-

term investments of $13.8 million at December 31, 2004. Cash provided by operating activities was $21.2 million compared to cash provided by operating activities

of $22.2 million in 2004 and $22.5 million in 2003. Cash and short-term investments increased primarily due to continued strong operating performance and higher

deferred revenue due to additional maintenance customers and new contract signings.

At December 31, 2005, our days sales outstanding (“DSOs”) were 101 days compared to DSOs of 89 days at December 31, 2004. The increase in DSOs is due prima-

rily to timing of billings. DSOs are calculated based on accounts receivable (excluding long-term receivables) divided by the quotient of annualized quarterly rev-

enues divided by 360 days. 

Investing activities provided cash of $1.8 million in 2005 compared to a use of cash of $9.9 million in 2004 and $590,000 in 2003. In 2005 we significantly reduced

our capitalized investments in software development and property and equipment and liquidated some short term investments and reinvested the proceeds in cash

equivalents. The cash used in investing activities in 2004 was comprised of investments in software development costs and property and equipment, short-term

bond funds and additional purchase price payments related to the Eden acquisition. Investing activities in 2003 included $39.3 million of gross proceeds on the sale

of our investment in H.T.E., Inc. which was offset by the investment of such proceeds in short-term bond funds, software development costs, property and equipment

and the acquisition of Eden. 

                                                                                                                                                     



During 2005, we made capital expenditures of $2.7 million, including $1.7 million for computer equipment, furniture and fixtures and expansions related to internal

growth. The other expenditures related to software development costs. Capital expenditures were funded from cash generated from operations. 

Proceeds from sales of short-term investments were $19.0 million during 2005. During 2005, the short-term investments earned interest income of $290,000 which

was reinvested.  We also earned interest income of $450,000 from money market investments and interest income of $170,000 from an investment in a restricted

certificate of deposit. 

Pursuant to our purchase agreement with Eden, two of the shareholders of Eden were granted the right to “put” their remaining shares to Tyler and we were also

granted the right to “call” the remaining shares. In 2004, we purchased the remaining 2,500 shares for $725,000 in cash.

Financing activities used cash of $14.8 million in 2005 compared to $9.9 million in 2004 and $25.4 million in 2003. Cash used in financing activities was primarily

comprised of purchases of treasury shares, net of proceeds from stock option exercises.  Financing activities in 2003 included the purchase of approximately 6.0 mil-

lion shares of our common stock through our modified Dutch Auction tender offer and purchases on the open market for $24.1 million.

During 2005, we purchased approximately 2.5 million shares of our common stock for an aggregate cash purchase price of $17.7 million. 

In 2005, we received $1.8 million from the exercise of options to purchase approximately 436,000 shares of our common stock under our employee stock option

plan. During 2004 we issued 680,000 shares of common stock and received $1.9 million in aggregate proceeds, upon exercise of stock options and during 2003 we

issued 554,000 shares of common stock and received $1.7 million in aggregate proceeds upon exercise of stock options.

During 2005, we received $1.0 million for contributions to the Tyler Technologies, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“the ESPP”), which was adopted by our share-

holders in May 2004. 

Subsequent to December 31, 2005 and through February 27, 2006 we purchased approximately 250,000 shares of our common stock for an aggregate cash pur-

chase price of $2.2 million.

On February 11, 2005, we entered into a revolving bank credit agreement (the “Credit Facility”). The Credit Facility matures February 11, 2008 and provides for total

borrowings of up to $30.0 million and a $10.0 million Letter of Credit facility under which the banks will issue cash collateralized letters of credit. As of December 31,

2005, our effective interest rate was 5.9% under the Credit Facility. As of December 31, 2005 we had no debt and outstanding letters of credit totaling $4.1 million to

secure surety bonds required by some of our customer contracts. As of February 27, 2006, we had no outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility. 

In January 2006, we acquired two companies, MazikUSA, Inc. and TACS, Inc.   The combined purchase price for the two companies was approximately $14.2 million,

comprised of approximately $11.3 million cash and 325,000 shares of Tyler common stock. We have not finalized the allocation of the excess purchase price over the
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fair value of the net identifiable assets of the acquired companies but expect this allocation will result in non-cash charges that will have a small dilutive effect on

earnings per share in 2006. 

Excluding acquisitions, we anticipate that 2006 capital spending will be between $3.5 million and $4.0 million, the majority of which will be related to computer

equipment and software for infrastructure expansions. Capital spending in 2006 is expected to be funded from existing cash balances and cash flows from opera-

tions.

From time to time we will engage in discussions with potential acquisition candidates. In order to pursue such opportunities, which could require significant commit-

ments of capital, we may be required to incur debt or to issue additional potentially dilutive securities in the future. No assurance can be given as to our future

acquisition opportunities and how such opportunities will be financed. In the absence of future acquisitions of other businesses, we believe our current cash bal-

ances and expected future cash flows from operations will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for working capital, capital expenditures and other activi-

ties through the next twelve months. If operating cash flows are not sufficient to meet our needs, we may borrow under our credit agreement.

We lease office facilities, as well as transportation, computer and other equipment used in our operations under non-cancelable operating lease agreements expiring

at various dates through 2013. Most leases contain renewal options and some contain purchase options. Following are the future obligations under non-cancelable

leases at December 31, 2005 (in thousands):

2 0 0 6 2 0 0 7 2 0 0 8 2 0 0 9 2 0 1 0 T H E R E A F T E R T O T A L   

Future rental payments under operating leases $ 4,400 $ 4,251 $ 4,113 $ 3,905 $ 2,696 $ 3,358 $ 22,723

It is not our usual business practice to enter into off-balance sheet arrangements. Moreover, it is not our normal policy to issue guarantees to third parties. As of

December 31, 2005 we have no material purchase commitments, except for the operating lease commitments listed above.

Capitalization 

At December 31, 2005, our capitalization consisted of $112.2 million of shareholders’ equity. 

New Accounting Pronouncements

Effective January 1, 2006, we will be required to adopt Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment” which, among

other things, will require the recording in the financial statements of non-cash compensation expense related to stock options and employee stock purchase plan

transactions. Prior to 2006, we have only disclosed, as permitted by SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, pro forma financial results including

the effects of share-based compensation expense in the footnotes to the financial statements.  We have chosen the “modified prospective” method of implementing
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SFAS No. 123R. Under the “modified prospective” method, new awards will be valued and accounted for prospectively upon adoption. Outstanding prior awards that

are unvested as of December 31, 2005 will be recognized as compensation cost over the remaining requisite service period. Prior periods will not be restated. Based

on stock options granted to employees through December 31, 2005, we expect the adoption of SFAS No. 123R on January 1, 2006, will reduce first quarter net earn-

ings by approximately $320,000 ($0.01 per share, diluted) and reduce full year 2006 net earnings by approximately  $1.3 million ($0.03 per share, diluted).  

SFAS No. 123R also requires employee stock purchase plans (ESPP) with purchase price discounts greater than 5% to be compensatory. Our ESPP has a 15% pur-

chase price discount, but the plan can be modified at any time. We expect the related compensatory charge would reduce first quarter 2006 net earnings by approx-

imately $50,000 ($0.00 per share, diluted) and reduce full year 2006 net earnings by approximately $200,000 ($0.01 per share, diluted). 

SFAS No. 123R includes several modifications to the way that income taxes are recorded in the financial statements. The expense for certain types of option grants

is only deductible for tax purposes at the time that the taxable event takes place, which could cause variability in our effective tax rates recorded throughout the

year. SFAS No. 123R does not allow companies to “predict” when these taxable events will take place. Furthermore, it requires that the benefits associated with the

tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost be reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an operating cash flow as required under current lit-

erature. This requirement will reduce net operating cash flows and increase net financing cash flows in periods after the effective date. These future amounts can-

not be estimated, because they depend on, among other things, when employees exercise stock options. However, the amount of operating cash flows recognized in

prior periods for such excess tax deductions, as shown in our consolidated statement of cash flows, were $313,000, $582,000, and $292,000, respectively, for 2005,

2004, and 2003. See Notes 1 and 12 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information on our stock-based compensation plans.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 

Market risk represents the risk of loss that may affect us due to adverse changes in financial market prices and interest rates. As of December 31, 2005, we had

funds invested in auction rate municipal bonds, which we accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity

Securities.” These investments were treated as available-for-sale under SFAS No. 115. The carrying value of these investments approximates fair market value.  Due

to the nature of this investment, we are not subject to significant market rate risk.

We have no outstanding debt at December 31, 2005, and we therefore are not subject to any interest rate risk.

In order to enhance our ability to manage foreign currency risk associated with one contract, in December 2005, we contracted with a commercial bank to enter into

a series of forward contracts, at no material cost to us, to acquire Canadian dollars through 2009 at fixed prices. These forward contracts have been entered into for

periods consistent with the related underlying exposure in this contract and do not constitute positions independent of this exposure. We had approximately

$100,000 of current risk management assets associated with these foreign exchange contracts at December 31, 2005. If the applicable exchange rate was to

increase or decrease 10% from the rate at December 31, 2005, our current risk management assets would increase or decrease approximately $300,000. We do not

enter into derivative contracts for speculative purposes, nor are we a party to any leveraged derivative instrument. At December 31, 2004 we did not have any for-

ward contracts in place. 

                                                                                                                                



The Board of Directors and Shareholders 

Tyler Technologies, Inc. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Tyler Technologies, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related 

consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005. These financial

statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan

and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a

test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and signifi-

cant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for

our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Tyler Technologies, Inc. and

subsidiaries at December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended

December 31, 2005, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of Tyler Technologies,

Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 23, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Dallas, Texas 

February 23, 2006
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The Board of Directors and Shareholders

Tyler Technologies, Inc.

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Controls over Financial Reporting, that Tyler

Technologies, Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Tyler Technologies, Inc.’s management is respon-

sible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our

responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting

based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan

and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our

audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and

operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit pro-

vides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the

preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial

reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transac-

tions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial

statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with

authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acqui-

sition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effec-

tiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate.

R E P O R T  O F  I N D E P E N D E N T  R E G I S T E R E D  P U B L I C  A C C O U N T I N G  F I R M

             



In our opinion, management’s assessment that Tyler Technologies, Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, is fair-

ly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, Tyler Technologies, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal con-

trol over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Tyler

Technologies, Inc. as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the

three years in the period ended December 31, 2005 and our report dated February 23, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Dallas, Texas 

February 23, 2006
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I N  T H O U S A N D S ,  E X C E P T  P E R  S H A R E  A M O U N T S
Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 , 2 0 0 5 2 0 0 4 2 0 0 3

Revenues:
Software licenses $ 29,552 $ 30,258 $ 25,914
Software services 51,532 49,786 37,128
Maintenance 64,728 57,760 47,157
Appraisal services 18,374 27,394 30,011
Hardware and other 6,271 7,072 5,244

Total revenues 170,457 172,270 145,454

Cost of revenues:
Software licenses 9,101 8,819 6,610
Acquired software 794 1,447 2,006
Software services and maintenance 80,347 72,609 56,892
Appraisal services 14,188 20,132 21,275
Hardware and other 4,540 5,425 3,844

Total cost of revenues 108,970 108,432 90,627

Gross profit 61,487 63,838 54,827

Selling, general and administrative expenses 46,242 45,451 38,390
Restructuring charge 1,260 — —
Amortization of customer and trade name intangibles 1,266 1,267 925

Operating income 12,719 17,120 15,512

Realized gain on sale of investment in H.T.E., Inc. – — 23,233
Other income, net 906 317 339

Income from continuing operations before income taxes 13,625 17,437 39,084
Income tax provision 5,432 7,309 13,106
Income from continuing operations 8,193 10,128 25,978

Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, after income taxes – — 424
Net income $ 8,193 $ 10,128 $ 26,402

Basic income per common share:
Continuing operations $ 0.21 $ 0.25 $ 0.61
Discontinued operations – — 0.01

Net income per common share $ 0.21 $ 0.25 $ 0.62

Diluted income per common share:
Continuing operations $ 0.19 $ 0.23 $ 0.58
Discontinued operations – — 0.01

Net income per common share $ 0.19 $ 0.23 $ 0.59

Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 39,439 41,288 42,547
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 42,075 44,566 45,035

S E E  A C C O M P A N Y I N G  N O T E S .

C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S  O F  O P E R A T I O N S
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I N  T H O U S A N D S ,  E X C E P T  S H A R E  A N D  P E R  S H A R E  A M O U N T S
D E C E M B E R  3 1 2 0 0 5 2 0 0 4

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 20,733 $ 12,573
Short-term investments available-for-sale 11,750 13,832
Restricted certificate of deposit 4,750 —
Accounts receivable (less allowance for losses of $1,991 in 2005 and  $986 in 2004) 49,644 44,180
Prepaid expenses 5,158 3,574
Other current assets 2,201 1,468
Deferred income taxes 2,128 1,611

Total current assets 96,364 77,238

Accounts receivable, long-term portion 1,547 1,621
Property and equipment, net 5,759 6,624

Other assets:
Restricted certificate of deposit 250 7,500
Goodwill 53,709 53,709
Customer related intangibles, net 17,696 18,855
Software, net 17,645 23,385
Trade name, net 1,262 1,369
Sundry 205 186

$ 194,437 $ 190,487

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 3,330 $ 2,890
Accrued liabilities 16,027 13,660
Deferred revenue 51,304 41,541
Income taxes payable 289 1,023

Total current liabilities 70,950 59,114

Deferred income taxes 11,290 12,973

Commitments and contingencies

Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $10.00 par value; 1,000,000 shares authorized, none issued – —
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized;

48,147,969 shares issued in 2005 and 2004 481 481
Additional paid-in capital 151,515 152,870
Retained earnings (deficit) 3,769 (4,424)
Treasury stock, at cost; 9,273,342 and 7,423,361 shares in 2005 and 2004, respectively (43,568) (30,527)

Total shareholders’ equity 112,197 118,400
$ 194,437 $ 190,487

S E E  A C C O M P A N Y I N G  N O T E S .  

C O N S O L I D A T E D  B A L A N C E  S H E E T S  
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I N  T H O U S A N D S
F O R  T H E  Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 0 5 ,  2 0 0 4  A N D  2 0 0 3  

A C C U M U L A T E D
A D D I T I O N A L O T H E R R E T A I N E D T O T A L

C O M M O N   S T O C K P A I D - I N C O M P R E H E N S I V E E A R N I N G S T R E A S U R Y  S T O C K S H A R E H O L D E R S ’
S H A R E S A M O U N T C A P I T A L I N C O M E  ( L O S S ) ( D E F I C I T ) S H A R E S A M O U N T E Q U I T Y

Balance at December 31, 2002 48,148 $ 481 $ 156,898 $ 7,418 $ (40,954) (1,929) $ (5,187) $ 118,656
Comprehensive income:

Net income — — — — 26,402 — — 26,402
Unrealized loss on investment

securities, net of tax — — — (32) — — — (32)
Reclassification adjustment, net of

income taxes of $3,995 — — — (7,418) — — — (7,418)
Total comprehensive income 18,952

Issuance of shares pursuant
to stock compensation plan — — (645) — — 554 2,318 1,673

Treasury stock purchases — — — — — (6,019) (24,104) (24,104)
Stock warrant exercises — — (1,584) — — 393 1,584 —
Federal income tax benefit related              

to exercise of stock options — — 292 — — — — 292
Shares issued for acquisitions — — 1,240 — — 297 1,198 2,438

Balance at December 31, 2003 48,148 481 156,201 (32) (14,552) (6,704) (24,191) 117,907
Comprehensive income:              

Net income — — — — 10,128 — — 10,128
Unrealized loss on investment 

securities, net of tax — — — (37) — — — (37)
Reclassification adjustment,                 

net of income taxes of $37 — — — 69 — — — 69
Total comprehensive income 10,160

Issuance of shares pursuant
to stock compensation plan — — (3,704) — — 680 5,644 1,940

Treasury stock purchases — — — — — (1,459) (12,518) (12,518)
Stock warrant exercises — — (143) — — 16 143 —
Issuance of shares pursuant to

Employee Stock Purchase Plan — — (66) — — 44 395 329
Federal income tax benefit related

to exercise of stock options — — 582 — — — — 582
Balance at December 31, 2004 48,148 481 152,870 — (4,424) (7,423) (30,527) 118,400

Comprehensive income:
Net income — — — — 8,193 — — 8,193
Unrealized loss on investment 

securities, net of tax — — — (8) — — — (8)
Reclassification adjustment,                 

net of income taxes of $5 — — —                    8 — — — 8
Total comprehensive income        8,193

Issuance of shares pursuant
to stock compensation plan — — (1,570) — — 436 3,370 1,800

Stock compensation — — 18 — — — — 18
Treasury stock purchases — — — — — (2,457) (17,683) (17,683)
Issuance of shares pursuant to 

Employee Stock Purchase Plan — — (116) — — 171 1,272 1,156
Federal income tax benefit related

to exercise of stock options — — 313 — — — — 313
Balance at December 31, 2005 48,148 $ 481 $ 151,515 $ — $ 3,769 (9,273) $ (43,568) $ 112,197

S E E  A C C O M P A N Y I N G  N O T E S  .  

C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S  O F  S H A R E H O L D E R S ’  E Q U I T Y

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      



43

I N  T H O U S A N D S
Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 , 2 0 0 5 2 0 0 4 2 0 0 3

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income $ 8,193 $ 10,128 $ 26,402
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operations:

Depreciation and amortization 10,443 11,386 9,396
Realized gain on sale of investment in H.T.E., Inc. – — (23,233)

Realized net losses on sales of investment securities – 106 39
Non-cash interest and other charges (73) 88 219
Provision for losses – accounts receivable 1,641 796 1,104
Deferred income tax (benefit) provision (2,200) (300) 4,628
Discontinued operations - noncash charges and changes 

in operating assets and liabilities – — (843)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, exclusive of                 

effects of acquired companies and discontinued operations:

Accounts receivable (7,031) (3,760) (7,354)

Income tax payable (421) 1,063 728
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (2,117) (1,084) (77)

Accounts payable 561 511 (238)

Accrued liabilities 2,428 (961) 2,603
Deferred revenue 9,763 4,186 9,161

Net cash provided by operating activities 21,187 22,159 22,535

Cash flows from investing activities:           

Purchases of short-term investments (16,882) (12,277) (27,758)

Proceeds from sales of short-term investments 18,964 10,055 16,000
Proceeds from sale of investment in H.T.E., Inc. – — 39,333
Cost of acquisitions, net of cash acquired – (946) (12,109)

Decrease (increase) in restricted certificate of deposit 2,500 — (7,500)

Investment in software development costs (1,002) (4,575) (6,761)

Additions to property and equipment (1,734) (2,267) (1,796)

Other (26) 96 1
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 1,820 (9,914) (590)

Cash flows from financing activities:           

Payments on notes payable – (35) (2,990)

Purchase of treasury shares (17,683) (12,518) (24,104)

Contributions from employee stock purchase plan 1,036 673 —

Proceeds from exercise of stock options 1,800 1,940 1,673
Net cash used by financing activities (14,847) (9,940)  (25,421)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 8,160 2,305 (3,476)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 12,573 10,268 13,744

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 20,733 $ 12,573 $ 10,268

S E E  A C C O M P A N Y I N G  N O T E S .  

C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S  O F  C A S H  F L O W S  
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T A B L E S  I N  T H O U S A N D S ,  E X C E P T  P E R  S H A R E  D A T A
D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 0 5  A N D  2 0 0 4

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Description of Business 

We provide integrated software systems and related services for local governments. We develop and market a broad line of software products and services to

address the information technology (“IT”) needs of cities, counties, schools and other local government entities. In addition, we provide professional IT services to

our customers, including software and hardware installation, data conversion, training, and for certain customers, product modifications, along with continuing main-

tenance and support for customers using our systems. We also provide property appraisal outsourcing services for taxing jurisdictions.

Tyler’s business is subject to risks and uncertainties including dependence on information technology spending by customers, fluctuations of quarterly results, a

lengthy and variable sales cycle, dependence on key personnel, dependence on principal products and third-party technology and rapid technological change.

Principles of Consolidation 

In 2005, we merged all of our subsidiaries into the parent company. The consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2004 include our parent company and

our subsidiaries, all of which were wholly-owned.

Cash, Cash Equivalents, Short-term Investments and Other

Cash equivalents include items almost as liquid as cash, such as money market investments with insignificant interest rate risk and original maturities of three

months or less at the time of purchase. For purposes of the statements of cash flows, we consider all investments with original maturities of three months or less to

be cash equivalents. 

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities,” we determine

the appropriate classification of debt and equity securities at the time of purchase and re-evaluate the classification as of each balance sheet date. At December 31,

2005 and 2004, we classified our short-term investments as available-for-sale securities pursuant to SFAS No. 115. Investments which are classified as available-for-

sale are recorded at fair value as determined by quoted market price and unrealized holding gains and losses, net of the related tax effect, if any, are not reflected in

earnings but are reported as a separate component of other comprehensive income until realized. Interest and dividends earned on these securities are reinvested

N O T E S  T O  C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S
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N O T E S  T O  C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  ( C O N T I N U E D )

in the securities. The cost basis of securities sold is determined using the average cost method. Following is a summary of short-term investments:

U N R E A L I Z E D U N R E A L I Z E D E S T I M A T E D
D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 0 5 C O S T G A I N S L O S S E S F A I R  V A L U E   

Auction rate municipal bonds $ 11,750 $ — $ — $ 11,750

U N R E A L I Z E D U N R E A L I Z E D E S T I M A T E D
D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 0 4 C O S T G A I N S L O S S E S F A I R  V A L U E   

Auction rate municipal bonds $ 8,925 $ — $ — $ 8,925

State and municipal bond mutual fund 4,907 —  —  4,907

$ 13,832 $ — $ — $ 13,832

We have a $5.0 million restricted certificate of deposit which collateralizes letters of credit required under our surety bond program. These letters of credit expire

during 2006 and early 2007.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue related to our software arrangements pursuant to the provisions of Statement of Position (“SOP”) 97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition,” as

amended by SOP 98-4 and SOP 98-9, and related interpretations, as well as the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104,

“Revenue Recognition.”  We recognize revenue on our appraisal services contracts using the proportionate performance method of accounting, with considerations

for the provisions of Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.”

Software Arrangements

We earn revenue from software licenses, post-contract customer support (“PCS” or “maintenance”), software related services and hardware. PCS includes telephone

support, bug fixes, and rights to upgrades on a when-and-if available basis. We provide services that range from installation, training, and basic consulting to soft-

ware modification and customization to meet specific customer needs. In software arrangements that include rights to multiple software products, specified

upgrades, PCS, and/or other services, we allocate the total arrangement fee among each deliverable based on the relative fair value of each. 

We typically enter into multiple element arrangements, which include software licenses, software services, PCS and occasionally hardware. The majority of our soft-

ware arrangements are multiple element arrangements, but for those arrangements that include customization or significant modification of the software, or where

software services are otherwise considered essential to the functionality of the software in the customer’s environment, we use contract accounting and apply the

provisions of SOP 81-1 “Accounting for Performance of Construction – Type and Certain Production – Type Contracts.”
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If the arrangement does not require significant modification or customization, revenue is recognized when all of the following conditions are met:

i. persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists;

ii. delivery has occurred;

iii. our fee is fixed or determinable; and

iv. collectibility is probable.

For multiple element arrangements, each element of the arrangement is analyzed and we allocate a portion of the total arrangement fee to the elements based on

the fair value of the element using vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value (“VSOE”), regardless of any separate prices stated within the contract for each

element. Fair value is considered the price a customer would be required to pay if the element was sold separately based on our historical experience of stand-alone

sales of these elements to third parties. For PCS, we use renewal rates for continued support arrangements to determine fair value. For software services, we use

the fair value we charge our customers when those services are sold separately. In software arrangements in which we have the fair value of all undelivered ele-

ments but not of a delivered element, we apply the “residual method” as allowed under SOP 98-9 in accounting for any element of a multiple element arrangement

involving software that remains undelivered such that any discount inherent in a contract is allocated to the delivered element. Under the residual method, if the fair

value of all undelivered elements is determinable, the fair value of the undelivered elements is deferred and the remaining portion of the arrangement fee is allocat-

ed to the delivered element(s) and is recognized as revenue assuming the other revenue recognition criteria are met. In software arrangements in which we do not

have VSOE for all undelivered elements, revenue is deferred until fair value is determined or all elements for which we do not have VSOE have been delivered.

Alternatively, if sufficient VSOE does not exist and the only undelivered element is services that do not involve significant modification or customization of the soft-

ware, the entire fee is recognized over the period during which the services are expected to be performed. 

Software Licenses. We recognize the revenue allocable to software licenses and specified upgrades upon delivery of the software product or upgrade to the cus-

tomer, unless the fee is not fixed or determinable or collectibility is not probable. If the fee is not fixed or determinable, including new customers whose payment

terms are three months or more from shipment, revenue is generally recognized as payments become due from the customer. If collectibility is not considered prob-

able, revenue is recognized when the fee is collected. Arrangements that include software services, such as training or installation, are evaluated to determine

whether those services are essential to the product’s functionality.

A majority of our software arrangements involve “off-the-shelf” software. We consider software to be off-the-shelf software if it can be added to an arrangement with

minor changes in the underlying code and it can be used by the customer for the customer’s purpose upon installation. For off-the-shelf software arrangements, we

recognize the software license fee as revenue after delivery has occurred, customer acceptance is reasonably assured, that portion of the fee represents a non-refund-

able enforceable claim and is probable of collection, and the remaining services such as training are not considered essential to the product’s functionality.

For arrangements that include customization or modification of the software, or where software services are otherwise considered essential, we recognize revenue

using contract accounting. We generally use the percentage-of-completion method to recognize revenue from these arrangements. We measure progress-to-comple-

tion primarily using labor hours incurred, or value added. The percentage-of-completion methodology generally results in the recognition of reasonably consistent
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N O T E S  T O  C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  ( C O N T I N U E D )

profit margins over the life of a contract since we have the ability to produce reasonably dependable estimates of contract billings and contract costs. We use the

level of profit margin that is most likely to occur on a contract. If the most likely profit margin cannot be precisely determined, the lowest probable level of profit in

the range of estimates is used until the results can be estimated more precisely. These arrangements are often implemented over an extended time period and occa-

sionally require us to revise total cost estimates. Amounts recognized in revenue are calculated using the progress-to-completion measurement after giving effect to

any changes in our cost estimates. Changes to total estimated contract costs, if any, are recorded in the period they are determined. Estimated losses on uncomplet-

ed contracts are recorded in the period in which we first determine that a loss is apparent.

For arrangements that include new product releases for which it is difficult to estimate final profitability except to assume that no loss will ultimately be incurred, we

recognize revenue under the completed contract method. Under the completed contract method, revenue is recognized only when a contract is completed or sub-

stantially complete. Historically these amounts have been immaterial. 

Software Services. Some of our software arrangements include services considered essential for the customer to use the software for the customer’s purposes. For

these software arrangements, both the software license revenue and the services revenue are recognized as the services are performed using the percentage-of-

completion contract accounting method. When software services are not considered essential, the fee allocable to the service element is recognized as revenue as

we perform the services.

Computer Hardware Equipment. Revenue allocable to computer hardware equipment, which is based on VSOE, is recognized when we deliver the equipment and

collection is probable.

Postcontract Customer Support. Our customers generally enter into PCS agreements when they purchase our software licenses. Our PCS agreements are typically

renewable annually. Revenue allocated to PCS is recognized on a straight-line basis over the period the PCS is provided. All significant costs and expenses associat-

ed with PCS are expensed as incurred. Fair value for the maintenance and support obligations for software licenses is based upon the specific sale renewals to cus-

tomers or upon renewal rates quoted in the contracts.

Appraisal Services

For our property appraisal projects, we recognize revenue using the proportionate performance method of revenue recognition since many of these projects are

implemented over one to three year periods and consist of various unique activities. Under this method of revenue recognition, we identify each activity for the

appraisal project, with a typical project generally calling for bonding, office set up, training, routing of map information, data entry, data collection, data verification,

informal hearings, appeals and project management. Each activity or act is specifically identified and assigned an estimated cost. Costs which are considered to be

associated with indirect activities, such as bonding costs and office set up, are expensed as incurred. These costs are typically billed as incurred and are recognized

as revenue equal to cost. Direct contract fulfillment activities and related supervisory costs such as data collection, data entry and verification are expensed as

incurred. The direct costs for these activities are determined and the total contract value is then allocated to each activity based on a consistent profit margin. Each

activity is assigned a consistent unit of measure to determine progress towards completion and revenue is recognized for each activity based upon the percentage
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complete as applied to the estimated revenue for that activity. Progress for the fulfillment activities is typically based on labor hours or an output measure such as

the number of parcel counts completed for that activity. Estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are recorded in the period in which we first determine that a

loss is apparent.

Other

Deferred revenue consists primarily of unearned support and maintenance revenue that has been billed based on contractual terms in the underlying arrangement

with the remaining balance consisting of payments received in advance of revenue being earned under software licensing, software services and hardware installa-

tion. Unbilled revenue is not billable at the balance sheet date but is recoverable over the remaining life of the contract through billings made in accordance with

contractual agreements. The termination clauses in most of our contracts provide for the payment for the fair value of products delivered and services performed in

the event of an early termination.

Prepaid expenses and other current assets include direct and incremental costs, consisting primarily of third party sub-contractor payments and commissions asso-

ciated with arrangements for which revenue recognition has been deferred. Such costs are expensed at the time the related revenue is recognized.

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) requires us to

make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the finan-

cial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions

include the application of the percentage-of-completion and proportionate performance methods of revenue recognition, the carrying amount and estimated useful

lives of intangible assets and valuation allowance for receivables. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Property and Equipment, Net

Property, equipment and purchased software are recorded at original cost and increased by the cost of any significant improvements after purchase. We expense

maintenance and repairs when incurred. Depreciation and amortization is calculated using the straight-line method over the shorter of the asset’s estimated useful

life or the term of the lease in the case of leasehold improvements. For income tax purposes, we use accelerated depreciation methods as allowed by tax laws.

Research and Development Costs 

Research and development costs are included with selling, general and administrative expenses and are expensed when incurred. We expensed research and devel-

opment costs of $2.4 million during 2005, $2.5 million during 2004, and $1.1 million during 2003.
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Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred taxes arise because of different treatment between financial statement accounting

and tax accounting, known as “temporary differences.”  We record the tax effect of these temporary differences as “deferred tax assets” (generally items that can

be used as a tax deduction or credit in the future periods) and “deferred tax liabilities” (generally items that we received a tax deduction for, which have not yet

been recorded in the income statement). The deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rules and laws that are expected to be in effect

when the temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. A valuation allowance would be established to reduce deferred tax assets if it is likely that

a deferred tax asset will not be realized. 

Stock Compensation

In accordance with SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” we elected to account for our stock-based compensation under Accounting Principles

Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” as amended, and related interpretations. Under APB No. 25’s intrinsic value method,

compensation expense is determined on the measurement date; that is, the first date on which both the number of shares the option holder is entitled to receive,

and the exercise price, if any, are known. Compensation expense, if any, is measured based on the award’s intrinsic value – the excess of the market price of the

stock over the exercise price on the measurement date. The exercise price of all of our stock options granted equals the market price on the measurement date.

Therefore, we have not recorded any compensation expense related to grants of stock options. 

The weighted-average fair value per stock option granted was $3.47 for 2005, $6.03 for 2004, and $3.41 for 2003. We estimated the fair values using the Black-

Scholes option pricing model and the following assumptions for the periods presented:

Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,    2 0 0 5 2 0 0 4 2 0 0 3   

Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0%

Risk-free interest rate 4.1% 3.7% 3.3%

Expected stock price volatility 48.4% 79.1% 86.5%

Expected term until exercise (years) 5 5 5

                                                        



50

Pro forma information regarding net income and earnings per share is required by SFAS No. 123 for awards granted after December 31, 1994, as if we had accounted

for our stock-based awards to employees under the fair value method of SFAS No. 123. The pro forma impact of applying SFAS No. 123 in 2005, 2004 and 2003 will

not necessarily be representative of the pro forma impact in future years. Our pro forma information is as follows:

Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,    2 0 0 5 2 0 0 4 2 0 0 3   

Net income as reported $ 8,193 $ 10,128 $ 26,402

Add stock-based employee compensation cost included in net income,

net of related tax benefit – — —

Deduct total stock-based employee compensation expense determined

under fair-value-based method for all awards, net of related tax benefit (831) (1,086) (1,915)

Pro forma net income $ 7,362 $ 9,042 $ 24,487

Basic earnings per share:

As reported $ 0.21 $ 0.25 $ 0.62

Pro forma $ 0.19 $ 0.22 $ 0.58

Diluted earnings per share:

As reported $ 0.19 $ 0.23 $ 0.59

Pro forma $ 0.17 $ 0.20 $ 0.54

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment.”  SFAS No. 123R is a revision of SFAS No. 123 and supersedes APB No. 25. Among other

items, SFAS No. 123R eliminates the use of APB No. 25 and the intrinsic value method of accounting, and requires companies to recognize the cost of employee 

services received in exchange for awards of equity instruments, based on the grant date fair value of those awards, in the financial statements. Pro forma disclosure

is no longer an alternative under the new standard. Although early adoption is allowed, we will adopt SFAS No. 123R as of the required effective date for calendar

year companies, which is January 1, 2006.

We currently utilize a standard option pricing model (i.e., Black-Scholes) to measure the fair value of stock options granted to employees. While SFAS No. 123R 

permits entities to continue to use such a model, the standard also permits the use of a more complex binomial, or “lattice” model. Based upon our research on the

alternative models available to value option grants, and in conjunction with the type and number of stock options expected to be issued in the future, we have deter-

mined that we will continue to use the Black-Scholes model for option valuation as of the current time.

SFAS No. 123R includes several modifications to the way that income taxes are recorded in the financial statements. The expense for certain types of option grants 

is only deductible for tax purposes at the time that the taxable event takes place, which could cause variability in our effective tax rates recorded throughout the
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year. SFAS No. 123R does not allow companies to “predict” when these taxable events will take place. Furthermore, it requires that the benefits associated with the

tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost be reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an operating cash flow as required under current 

literature. This requirement will reduce net operating cash flows and increase net financing cash flows in periods after the effective date. These future amounts can-

not be estimated, because they depend on, among other things, when employees exercise stock options. However, the amounts of operating cash flows recognized in

prior periods for such excess tax deductions, as shown in our consolidated statements of cash flows, were $313,000, $582,000, and $292,000, respectively, for 2005,

2004, and 2003.

We have chosen the “modified prospective” method of implementing SFAS No. 123R. Under the “modified prospective” method, new awards will be valued and

accounted for prospectively upon adoption. Outstanding prior awards that are unvested as of December 31, 2005 will be recognized as compensation cost over the

remaining requisite service period. Prior periods will not be restated. Based on stock options granted to employees through December 31, 2005, we expect the adop-

tion of SFAS No. 123R on January 1, 2006, will reduce first quarter net earnings by approximately $320,000 ($0.01 per share, diluted) and reduce full year 2006 net

earnings by approximately  $1.3 million ($0.03 per share, diluted). 

SFAS No. 123R also requires employee stock purchase plans (“ESPP”) with purchase price discounts greater than 5% to be compensatory. Our ESPP currently has a

15% purchase price discount, but the plan can be modified at any time. We expect the related compensatory charge would reduce first quarter 2006 net earnings

approximately $50,000 ($0.00 per share, diluted) and reduce full year 2006 net earnings approximately $200,000 ($0.01 per share, diluted). 

See Note 12 for further information on our stock-based compensation plans.

Comprehensive Income

Changes in accumulated other comprehensive income are as follows:

Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,    2 0 0 5 2 0 0 4 2 0 0 3   

Net income $ 8,193 $ 10,128 $ 26,402

Other comprehensive income (loss):

Change in fair value of short-term investments available-for-sale 

(net of deferred tax benefit of $4 in 2005 and $20 in 2004) (8) (37) (32)

Reclassification adjustment for unrealized gain related to investment in

H.T.E., Inc. (net of deferred tax expense of $3,995) – — (7,418)

Reclassification adjustment for unrealized gain related to investments

available-for-sale (net of deferred tax expense of $5 in 2005 and $37 in 2004) 8 69 — 

Total comprehensive income $ 8,193 $ 10,160 $ 18,952

                                                                                                                                        



Segment and Related Information

Although we have a number of operating divisions, separate segment data has not been presented as they meet the criteria for aggregation as permitted by SFAS

No. 131, “Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information.”

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets 

We have used the purchase method of accounting for all of our business combinations. Our business acquisitions result in the allocation of the purchase price to

goodwill and other intangible assets. We allocate the cost of acquired companies first to identifiable assets based on estimated fair values. The excess of the pur-

chase price over the fair value of identifiable assets acquired, net of liabilities assumed, is recorded as goodwill.

Under SFAS No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” we will evaluate goodwill for impairment annually as of April 1st, or more frequently if impairment indi-

cators arise. An impairment loss is recognized to the extent that the carrying amount exceeds the asset’s fair value. In the implementation of SFAS No. 142, we iden-

tified two reporting units for impairment testing. The appraisal services and appraisal software stand-alone business unit qualified as a reporting unit since it is one

level below an operating segment, discrete financial information exists for the business unit and the executive management group directly reviews this business

unit. The other software business units were aggregated into the other single reporting unit. The appraisal services and appraisal software stand-alone business unit

is organized in such a manner that both of its revenue sources are tightly integrated with each other and discrete financial information at the operating profit level

does not exist for this business unit’s respective revenue sources.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We periodically evaluate whether current facts or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of our property and equipment or other long-lived assets to be held

and used may not be recoverable. If such circumstances are determined to exist, we measure the recoverability of assets to be held and used by a comparison of the

carrying amount of the asset or appropriate grouping of assets and the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the assets. If the car-

rying amount of the assets exceeds their estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of the

assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. Assets to be disposed of would be separately presented in the balance sheet and reported at the lower of the carrying

amount or fair value less costs to sell, and are no longer depreciated. The assets and liabilities of a disposed group classified as held for sale would be presented

separately in the appropriate asset and liability sections of the balance sheet.

Costs of Computer Software

Software development costs have been accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 86, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased, or

Otherwise Marketed.”  Under SFAS No. 86, capitalization of software development costs begins upon the establishment of technological feasibility and prior to the
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availability of the product for general release to customers. We capitalized software development costs of approximately $1.0 million during 2005, $4.6 million during

2004 and $6.8 million during 2003. Software development costs primarily consist of personnel costs and rent for related office space. We begin to amortize capital-

ized costs when a product is available for general release to customers. Amortization expense is determined on a product-by-product basis at a rate not less than

straight-line basis over the product’s remaining estimated economic life but not to exceed five years. Amortization of software development costs was approximately

$5.9 million in 2005, $6.1 million during 2004, and $4.1 million during 2003 and is included in cost of software license revenue in the accompanying consolidated

statements of operations.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivables, accounts payables, deferred revenues and certain other assets at cost approximate fair value because of the short

maturity of these instruments. Our available-for-sale investments are recorded at fair value based on quoted market prices.

In order to enhance our ability to manage foreign currency risk associated with one contract, in December 2005, we contracted with a commercial bank to enter into

a series of forward contracts, at no material cost to us, to acquire Canadian dollars through 2009 at fixed prices. These forward contracts have been entered into for

periods consistent with the related underlying exposure in this contract and do not constitute positions independent of this exposure. These forward contracts are

recorded in our consolidated balance sheet as either an asset or liability measured at fair value, with changes in the fair value recorded in earnings. We had approxi-

mately $100,000 of current risk management assets associated with these foreign exchange contracts at December 31, 2005 and we recorded related gains in other

income of approximately $100,000. We do not enter into derivative contracts for speculative purposes, nor are we a party to any leveraged derivative instrument. At

December 31, 2004 we did not have any forward contracts in place.

Concentrations of Credit Risk and Unbilled Receivables

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to receivables are limited due to the size and geographical diversity of our customer base. Historically, our credit losses

have not been significant. As a result, we do not believe we have any significant concentrations of credit risk as of December 31, 2005.

We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts and sales adjustments, which are provided at the time the revenue is recognized. Since most of our customers are

domestic governmental entities, we rarely incur a loss resulting from the inability of a customer to make required payments. Events or changes in circumstances

that indicate that the carrying amount for the allowances for doubtful accounts and sales adjustments may require revision, include, but are not limited to, deterio-

ration of a customer’s financial condition, failure to manage our customer’s expectations regarding the scope of the services to be delivered, and defects or errors in

new versions or enhancements of our software products.

The termination clauses in most of our contracts provide for the payment for the fair value of products delivered or services performed in the event of early termi-

nation. Our property appraisal outsourcing service contracts can range up to three years and, in one case, as long as six years in duration. In connection with these
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contracts, as well as certain software service contracts, we may perform work prior to when the software and services are billable and/or payable pursuant to the

contract. We have historically recorded such unbilled receivables (costs and estimated profit in excess of billings) in connection with (1) property appraisal services

contracts accounted for using proportionate performance accounting in which the revenue is earned based upon activities performed in one accounting period but

the billing normally occurs shortly thereafter and may span another accounting period; (2) software services contracts accounted for using the percentage-of-com-

pletion method of revenue recognition using labor hours as a measure of progress towards completion in which the services are performed in one accounting period

but the billing for the software element of the arrangement may be based upon the specific phase of the implementation; (3) software revenue for which we have

objective evidence that the customer-specified objective criteria has been met but the billing has not yet been submitted to the customer; and (4) in a limited num-

ber of cases, we may grant extended payment terms generally to existing customers with whom we have a long-term relationship and favorable collection history. In

addition, certain of our property appraisal outsourcing contracts are required by law to have an amount withheld from a progress billing (generally a 10% retention)

until final and satisfactory project completion is achieved, typically upon the completion of fieldwork or formal hearings. 

In connection with this activity, we have recorded unbilled receivables of $7.1 million and $10.0 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, with billing pri-

marily dependent on a fixed payment schedule based on specific calendar dates. We also have recorded retention receivable of $1.7 million at both December 31,

2005 and 2004, and these retentions become payable upon the completion of our field work and formal hearings. Unbilled receivables and retention receivables

expected to be collected in excess of one year have been classified as non-current receivables in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Indemnification

Most of our software license agreements indemnify our customers in the event that the software sold infringes upon the intellectual property rights of a third party.

These agreements typically provide that in such event we will either modify or replace the software so that it becomes non-infringing or procure for the customer

the right to use the software. We have recorded no liability associated with these indemnifications, as we are not aware of any pending or threatened infringement

actions that are possible losses. We believe the estimated fair value of these intellectual property indemnification clauses is minimal. 

We have also agreed to indemnify our officers and board members if they are named or threatened to be named as a party to any proceeding by reason of the fact

that they acted in such capacity. A form of the indemnification agreement was filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002. We

maintain directors’ and officers’ insurance coverage to protect against any such losses. We have recorded no liability associated with these indemnifications.

Because of our insurance coverage, we believe the estimated fair value of these indemnification agreements is minimal.

Reclassifications 

Certain amounts for previous years have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.
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(2) Acquisitions 

During December 2003, we acquired 95% of one company, Eden Systems, Inc. (“Eden”), and certain assets of another business that provides forms software to users

of some of our software products, for an aggregate purchase price of $15.5 million, consisting of $13.1 million cash and $2.4 million of Tyler common stock. In 2004

we paid $725,000 cash for the remaining 5% of Eden. The results of these acquisitions have been included in our consolidated financial statements since their

respective dates of acquisition. Eden provides financial, personnel and citizen services applications software for local governments.  

The following unaudited pro forma information presents the consolidated results of operations for 2003 as if our acquisition of Eden occurred as of the beginning of

2003, after giving effect to certain adjustments, including amortization of intangibles, interest and income tax effects. Pro forma information does not include acqui-

sitions that are not considered material to our results of operations. The pro forma information does not purport to represent what our results of operations actual-

ly would have been had such transaction or event occurred on the dates specified, or to project our results of operations for any future period.

Revenues $ 157,248

Income from continuing operations 26,295

Net income 26,719

Net income per diluted share $ 0.59

(3) Discontinued Operations 

One of our non-operating subsidiaries, Swan Transportation Company (“Swan”), had been involved in various claims raised by former employees of a foundry that

was owned by an affiliate of Swan and Tyler prior to December 1995. These claims were for alleged work related injuries and physical conditions resulting from

alleged exposure to silica, asbestos, and/or related industrial dusts. After a series of bankruptcy court filings involving Swan, on December 23, 2003, Tyler, in accor-

dance with the terms of the plan of reorganization, transferred the stock of Swan to the Swan Asbestos and Silica Trust (the “Trust”), an unaffiliated entity that will

oversee the processing and payment of all present and future claims related to the foundry. On December 23, 2003, we paid $1.48 million to the Trust in full and

final release from all liability for claims associated with the once-owned foundry (the “Swan Matter”). As a result of the release, any claimant is barred from assert-

ing any such claim, either now or in the future, against Tyler or its affected affiliates. We recorded a gain on disposal of discontinued operations of $424,000

because we fully settled the Swan Matter at an amount less than initially recorded and certain aspects of the settlement were structured in a beneficial tax manner.

Accordingly, we recognized for the first time certain tax benefits associated with payments on behalf of the Swan Matter.

(4) Restructuring Charge

Because of unsatisfactory financial performance early in 2005, we made significant organizational changes in the second quarter of 2005 to those areas of our busi-

ness that were not performing to our expectations. Our goal was to bring costs in line with expected levels of revenue while improving the efficiency of our organi-

zational structure to ensure that clients continue to receive superior service.
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We currently anticipate that revenues in our appraisal services business are likely to remain at historically low levels in the foreseeable future and we reorganized

that division to eliminate levels of management and reduce overhead expense. We also took actions to reduce headcount and costs in our appraisal and tax software

division, and we consolidated certain senior management positions at the corporate office. These cost reductions were made in the second quarter of 2005. As a

result, we reduced headcount in the appraisal services and appraisal and tax software businesses, as well as in the corporate office, by eliminating approximately 120

positions, including management, staff and project-related personnel.

In connection with the reorganization, we incurred certain charges which were primarily comprised of employee severance costs and related fringe benefits, and

totaled approximately $1.3 million before income taxes. The related payments were paid in 2005. 

The following is a summary of the restructuring liability:

C H A R G E D  T O  E X P E N S E
I N  T H E  Q U A R T E R  E N D E D L I A B I L I T Y  A S  O F

J U N E  3 0 ,  2 0 0 5 C A S H  P A Y M E N T S D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 0 5

Severance and related fringe benefits $ 1,237 $ 1,237 $ —

Other 23 23 —

Total $ 1,260 $ 1,260 $ —  

(5) Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net consists of the following at December 31: 

U S E F U L  L I V E S  ( Y E A R S ) 2 0 0 5 2 0 0 4

Land — $ 115 $ 115

Transportation equipment 5 389 398

Computer equipment and purchased software 3-7 11,722 11,259

Furniture and fixtures 3-7 4,347 4,038

Building and leasehold improvements 5-25 2,376 2,332

18,949 18,142

Accumulated depreciation and amortization (13,190) (11,518)

Property and equipment, net $ 5,759 $ 6,624

Depreciation expense was $2.5 million during 2005, $2.5 million during 2004, and $2.4 million during 2003. 
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(6) Gain on Sale of Investment 

On March 25, 2003, we received cash proceeds of $39.3 million in connection with a transaction to sell all of our 5.6 million shares of H.T.E., Inc. (“HTE”) common

stock to SunGard Data Systems Inc. for $7.00 cash per share, pursuant to a Tender and Voting Agreement dated February 4, 2003. Our original cost basis in the HTE

shares was $15.8 million. After transaction and other costs, we recorded a realized gross gain of $23.2 million ($16.2 million after income taxes of $7.0 million,

including the utilization for tax purposes and reduction in valuation allowance for accounting purposes related to a capital loss carryforward amounting to $1.1 mil-

lion on a tax effected basis).

(7) Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets 

Intangible assets and related accumulated amortization consists of the following at December 31:

2 0 0 5 2 0 0 4

Gross carrying amount of acquisition intangibles:

Goodwill $ 53,709 $ 53,709

Customer related intangibles 24,278 24,278

Software acquired 16,023 16,023

Trade name 1,643 1,643

95,653 95,653

Accumulated amortization (20,771) (18,711)

Acquisition intangibles, net $ 74,882 $ 76,942

Post acquisition software development costs $ 36,756 $ 35,783

Accumulated amortization (21,326) (15,407)

Post acquisition software costs, net $ 15,430 $ 20,376

Total amortization expense for acquisition related intangibles and post acquisition software development costs was $8.0 million during 2005, $8.8 million during

2004, and $7.0 million during 2003. 
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The allocation of acquisition intangible assets is summarized in the following table:

D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 0 5 D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 0 4

W E I G H T E D W E I G H T E D
G R O S S A V E R A G E G R O S S A V E R A G E

C A R R Y I N G A M O R T I Z A T I O N A C C U M U L A T E D C A R R Y I N G A M O R T I Z A T I O N A C C U M U L A T E D
A M O U N T P E R I O D A M O R T I Z A T I O N A M O U N T P E R I O D A M O R T I Z A T I O N   

Intangibles no longer amortized:

Goodwill $ 53,709 – $ – $ 53,709 — $ —

Amortizable intangibles: 

Customer related intangibles 24,278 22 years 6,582 24,278 22 years 5,423

Software acquired 16,023  5 years  13,808  16,023 5 years  13,014

Trade name 1,643  21 years  381  1,643 21 years  274

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the two years ended December 31, 2005 are as follows:

Balance as of December 31, 2003 $ 53,932

Goodwill acquired during the year related to the purchase of minority interest in Eden 687

Adjustments to finalize purchase price allocations for 2003 acquisitions (910)

Balance as of December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2005 $ 53,709

Estimated annual amortization expense relating to acquisition intangibles, including acquired software for which the amortization expense is recorded as cost of rev-

enues and excluding acquisitions completed in 2006, is as follows:

Y E A R  E N D I N G  D E C E M B E R  3 1 , 2 0 0 6 2 0 0 7 2 0 0 8 2 0 0 9 2 0 1 0   

$ 2,060 $ 2,008 $ 1,921 $ 1,155 $ 1,155

(8) Accrued Liabilities 

Accrued liabilities consist of the following at December 31:

2 0 0 5 2 0 0 4

Accrued wages, bonuses and commissions $ 9,381 $ 8,926

Other accrued liabilities 3,907 2,776

Accrued health claims 1,379 1,110

Accrued third party contract costs 1,360 848

$ 16,027 $ 13,660
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(9) Long Term Obligations

On February 11, 2005, we entered into a revolving bank credit agreement (the “Credit Facility”). The Credit Facility matures February 11, 2008 and provides for total

borrowings of up to $30.0 million. Borrowings bear interest at either prime rate or at London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus a margin of 1.5%. As of

December 31, 2005, the effective interest rate was 5.9%. The Credit Facility is secured by substantially all of our personal property. The Credit Facility requires us to

maintain certain financial ratios and other financial conditions and prohibits us from making certain investments, advances, cash dividends or loans. As of December

31, 2005, we were in compliance with those covenants. The credit agreement also includes a $10.0 million Letter of Credit facility under which the banks will issue

cash collateralized letters of credit.

At December 31, 2005, we had no debt outstanding under the Credit Facility and our bank had issued outstanding letters of credit totaling $4.1 million to secure

surety bonds required by some of our customer contracts. These letters of credit have been collateralized by restricted cash balances invested in a certificate of

deposit. 

We paid interest of $184,000 in 2005, $105,000 in 2004, and $238,000 in 2003, which includes non-usage and other fees associated with the credit agreement.

(10) Income Tax 

The income tax provision on income from continuing operations consisted of the following:

Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 , 2 0 0 5 2 0 0 4 2 0 0 3

Current:

Federal $ 6,340 $ 5,978 $ 7,710

State 1,292 1,631 768

7,632 7,609 8,478

Deferred (2,200) (300) 4,628

$ 5,432 $ 7,309 $ 13,106
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Reconciliation of the U.S. statutory income tax rate to our effective income tax expense rate for continuing operations follows: 

Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 , 2 0 0 5 2 0 0 4 2 0 0 3

Income tax expense at statutory rate $ 4,769 $ 6,103 $ 13,679

State income tax, net of federal income tax benefit 778 1,060 499

Non-deductible business expenses 182 195 129

Qualified manufacturing activities (149) — —

Utilization of capital loss carryforward – — (1,114)

Other, net (148) (49) (87)

$ 5,432 $ 7,309 $ 13,106

The tax effects of the major items recorded as deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31 are:

2 0 0 5 2 0 0 4

Deferred income tax assets:

Operating expenses not currently deductible $ 1,530 $ 1,093

Employee benefit plans 819 763

Total deferred income tax assets 2,349 1,856

Deferred income tax liabilities:

Property and equipment (94) (356)

Intangible assets (11,202) (12,617)

Other (215) (245)

Total deferred income tax liabilities (11,511) (13,218)

Net deferred income tax liabilities $ (9,162) $ (11,362)  

In 2003, we utilized our capital loss carryforward of $1.1 million on a tax-effected basis in connection with a realized gain from the sale of our investment in HTE. 

See Note 6 – Gain on Sale of Investment.

Although realization is not assured, we believe it is more likely than not that all the deferred tax assets at December 31, 2005 and 2004 will be realized. Accordingly,

we believe no valuation allowance is required for the deferred tax assets. However, the amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable could be adjusted in

the future if estimates of reversing taxable temporary differences are revised.

We paid income taxes, net of refunds received, of $8.1 million in 2005, $6.5 million in 2004, and $6.5 million in 2003. 

                                                                                                                    



(11) Shareholders’ Equity 

The following table details activity in our common stock: 

2 0 0 5 2 0 0 4 2 0 0 3
Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 , S H A R E S A M O U N T S H A R E S A M O U N T S H A R E S A M O U N T

Purchases of common stock 2,457 $ 17,683 1,459 $ 12,518 6,019 $ 24,104

Stock option exercises 436  1,800 680 1,940 554 1,673

Employee stock plan purchases 171  1,156 44 329 — —  

Subsequent to December 31, 2005 and through February 27, 2006, we have repurchased 250,000 shares for an aggregate purchase price of $2.2 million. As of

February 27, 2006 we have authorization from our board of directors to repurchase up to 1.8 million additional shares of our common stock.

In 2003, through a modified Dutch Auction tender offer, we purchased 5.1 million shares of our common stock at a cash purchase price of $4.00 per share and

incurred transaction costs of approximately $150,000, for a total cost of $20.6 million. In addition, during 2003 we also repurchased 912,800 shares of common

stock on the open market for an aggregate purchase price of $3.5 million. 

In November 2003, we exchanged a warrant issued in July 1997 to purchase 2.0 million shares of our common stock at $2.50 per share into six separate warrants to

purchase a total of 2.0 million shares of our common stock at $2.50 per share. Subsequent to the exchange in 2003, several parties exercised their warrants to pur-

chase 375,000 shares of our common stock by way of cashless exercise and were issued, on a net basis, 247,620 shares of our common stock from our treasury. In

March 2004, another warrant holder exercised his warrant to purchase 21,234 shares of our common stock by way of cashless exercise and was issued on a net

basis, 15,780 shares of our common stock from our treasury shares. As of December 31, 2005, we have warrants outstanding to purchase 1.6 million shares of com-

mon stock at $2.50 per share. These warrants expire in September 2007.

In August 2003, Sanders Morris Harris Inc. (“SMH”) exercised its warrant issued in May 2000 to purchase 333,380 shares of our common stock. The exercise price

per share was $3.60 payable either in cash or by the surrender of shares subject to the warrant with a value equal to the aggregate exercise price as determined by

the market price of our stock on the date of exercise. On August 27, 2003, SMH exercised the full amount of the warrant by way of cashless exercise and was issued,

on a net basis, 145,413 shares of our common stock from our treasury shares.

(12) Stock Plans

We have a stock option plan that provides for the grant of stock options to key employees and directors. Options become fully exercisable after three to five years

of continuous employment and expire ten years after the grant date. Once exercisable, the employee can purchase shares of our common stock at the market price

on the date we granted the option. In 2005 we also issued 65,000 non-qualified stock options to a non-employee who provides consulting services. These options
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were granted at their fair market value on the date of the grant, vest over a period of three years and expire ten years from the date of grant. As of December 31,

2005, there were 73,000 shares available for future grants under the plan from the 7.5 million shares previously approved by the stockholders.

The following table summarizes our stock option plan’s transactions for the three-year period ended December 31, 2005:

W E I G H T E D - A V E R A G E
N U M B E R  O F  S H A R E S E X E R C I S E  P R I C E S

Options outstanding at December 31, 2002 4,105 $ 3.49

Granted 1,184 4.92

Forfeited (105) 2.49

Exercised (554) 3.01

Options outstanding at December 31, 2003 4,630 3.94

Granted 62 9.18

Forfeited (48) 3.18

Exercised (680) 2.85

Options outstanding at December 31, 2004 3,964 4.21

Granted 1,135 7.49

Forfeited (55) 7.49

Exercised (436) 4.12

Options outstanding at December 31, 2005 4,608 $ 4.99

Exercisable options:

December 31, 2003 2,408 $ 4.02

December 31, 2004 2,925 3.92

December 31, 2005 2,891 3.99  
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The following table summarizes information concerning outstanding and exercisable options at December 31, 2005:

W E I G H T E D  A V E R A G E N U M B E R  O F W E I G H T E D  A V E R A G E  N U M B E R  O F W E I G H T E D  A V E R A G E
R A N G E  O F  E X E R C I S E R E M A I N I N G O U T S T A N D I N G P R I C E  O F E X E R C I S A B L E P R I C E  O F  

P R I C E S C O N T R A C T U A L  L I F E O P T I O N S O U T S T A N D I N G  O P T I O N S O P T I O N S E X E R C I S A B L E  O P T I O N S

$  1.09 - $  2.19 5.3 947 $ 1.63 947 $ 1.63

2.19 - 3.28 5.4 23 2.62 23 2.62

3.28 - 4.38 4.6 441 3.93 418 3.95

4.38 - 5.47 5.9 1,658 4.86 1,168 4.96

5.47 - 6.56 4.4 199 6.07 154 6.11

6.56 - 7.66 9.0 1,107 7.53 82 7.63

7.66 - 8.75 9.0 91 8.04 12 7.80

8.75 - 9.84 8.1 112 9.15 57 9.09

9.84 - 10.19 2.3 30 10.19 30 10.19

In May 2004, our shareholders voted to adopt the Tyler Technologies, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) and to reserve 1.0 million shares of our common

stock for issuance under the ESPP. Under the ESPP, participants may contribute up to 15% of their annual compensation to purchase common shares of Tyler. The

purchase price of the shares is equal to 85% of the closing price of Tyler shares on the last day of each quarterly offering period. During 2005, employees con-

tributed $1.0 million to the ESPP and we issued approximately 171,000 shares of common stock in 2005. As of December 31, 2005, there were 785,000 shares avail-

able for future grants under the plan from the 1.0 million shares reserved for issuance under the ESPP.
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(13) Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings and diluted earnings per share data was computed as follows:

Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 , 2 0 0 5 2 0 0 4 2 0 0 3

Numerator:

Income from continuing operations for basic and diluted earnings per share $ 8,193 $ 10,128 $ 25,978

Denominator:

Denominator for basic earnings per share –

Weighted-average shares 39,439 41,288 42,547

Effect of dilutive securities: 

Employee stock options 1,561 2,114 1,496

Warrants 1,075 1,164 992

Potentially dilutive shares 2,636 3,278 2,488

Denominator for diluted earnings per share – Adjusted weighted-average shares 42,075 44,566 45,035

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations $ 0.21 $ 0.25 $ 0.61

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations $ 0.19 $ 0.23 $ 0.58

Stock options representing the right to purchase common stock of 229,000 shares in 2005, 110,000 shares in 2004, and 1.1 million shares in 2003, had exercise

prices greater than the average quoted market price of our common stock. These options were outstanding during 2005, 2004 and 2003, but were not included in

the computation of diluted earnings per share because their inclusion would have had an antidilutive effect.

(14) Leases

We lease office facilities for use in our operations as well as transportation, computer and other equipment. We also have two office facility lease agreements with a

shareholder and certain division managers. Most of these leases are noncancelable operating lease agreements and they expire at various dates through 2013. In

addition to rent, the leases generally require us to pay taxes, maintenance, insurance and certain other operating expenses.

Rent expense was approximately $4.6 million in 2005, $4.6 million in 2004, and $4.3 million in 2003, which included rent expense associated with related party lease

agreements of $1.5 million in 2005, $1.4 million in 2004, and $1.5 million in 2003.
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Future minimum lease payments under all noncancelable leases at December 31, 2005 are as follows:

Y E A R S  E N D I N G  D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,

2006 $ 4,400

2007 4,251

2008 4,113

2009 3,905

2010 2,696

Thereafter 3,358

$ 22,723

Included in future minimum lease payments are noncancelable payments due to related parties of $1.7 million each in 2006, 2007, 2008 and 2009; $552,000 in 2010

and none thereafter. 

(15) Employee Benefit Plans 

We provide a defined contribution plan for the majority of our employees meeting minimum service requirements. The employees can contribute up to 30% of their

current compensation to the plan subject to certain statutory limitations. We contribute up to a maximum of 2.5% of an employee’s compensation to the plan. We

made contributions to the plan and charged operations $1.0 million during 2005, $801,000 during 2004, and $931,000 during 2003.

(16) Commitments and Contingencies

On September 9, 2005, Affiliated Computer Services, Inc. (“ACS”) filed litigation in Dallas County, Texas against thirty-three defendants, including Tyler and John M.

Yeaman, our Chairman of the Board (“Yeaman”). The other named defendants include entities affiliated with William D. Oates (“Oates”), a former director of ours,

and certain individuals employed by such entities. The lawsuit alleges, among other things, that we breached the non-competition and non-solicitation covenants set

forth in the Stock Purchase Agreement dated December 29, 2000 (the “SPA”) between ACS and us pursuant to which we sold to ACS for cash all of the issued and

outstanding capital stock of Business Resources Corporation (“BRC”), which comprised a significant portion of our then existing property records business. In the

SPA, we agreed to certain five-year non-competition and non-solicitation covenants, which expired on December 29, 2005. In addition, the SPA contained a closing

condition pursuant to which Oates agreed to amend his then existing three-year non-competition and non-solicitation covenants so that the restricted activities

would conform to the language of our restricted activities, which covenants expired on December 29, 2003. The lawsuit alleges that Oates (or entities owned by

Oates) solicited ACS employees and re-entered the land records business after the expiration of his three-year covenants, but prior to the expiration of our five-year

covenants, and further alleges that we, through our non-compete, are legally responsible for Oates’ actions. The lawsuit further alleges that Oates “controlled

Tyler”, “manipulated Tyler”, and was a “legal representative” of ours for a significant, but unspecified, period of time following the sale of BRC, even though Oates
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has not been a member of our board since 2001, has not been employed by us since the sale of BRC, has had limited contact with our management since the sale of

BRC, and to our knowledge, has not owned any stock in us since May 2003. The lawsuit further alleges that we fraudulently induced ACS to enter into the SPA

because we allegedly knew that Oates (or entities owned by Oates) would re-enter the land records business after three years, even though the SPA specifically con-

tained different covenants with respect to Oates and us. ACS entered into a settlement agreement with all of the defendants other than Yeaman and us, the terms

of which are currently confidential; however, management believes that the settlement agreement extends the non-compete for Oates and his related entities for

some period of time.

We vehemently deny all allegations contained in the lawsuit. Management believes that we have not breached any non-competition covenants, have not solicited

ACS employees, and have not misappropriated ACS confidential information. Management further believes that the “factual” allegations made against us are false

and inaccurate and that the legal theories asserted by ACS are without merit. Management further believes based on discovery that has taken place to date that

even if the allegations as currently set forth in the petition were true, that ACS has suffered no or nominal damage, particularly in light of the settlement agreement

with Oates and his related entities.

We have filed counterclaims against ACS, including claims for business disparagement and defamation, alleging that ACS has published factually inaccurate and

defamatory statements about us to third parties, including our customers and prospective customers, with malice and/or negligence regarding the truth of those

statements. We intend to defend the lawsuit and pursue our counterclaims vigorously. The future costs associated with such defense and in pursuit of the counter-

claims are uncertain and difficult to predict and may be material.

Other than ordinary course, routine litigation incidental to our business and except as described herein, there are no material legal proceedings pending to which we

are party or to which any of our properties are subject.

(17) Subsequent Events

In January 2006, we acquired two companies whose products will be included within our Financials division. MazikUSA, Inc. offers a Student Information System for

K-12 schools, which manages such applications as scheduling, grades and attendance. TACS, Inc. offers software products to manage public sector pension funds.

These acquisitions added products that were not previously a part of Tyler’s portfolio. The combined purchase price for the two companies was approximately $14.2

million, comprised of approximately $11.3 million cash and 325,000 shares of Tyler common stock. We have not finalized the allocation of the excess purchase price

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the acquired companies.
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(18) Quarterly Financial Information (unaudited)

The following tables contain selected financial information from unaudited consolidated statements of operations for each quarter of 2005 and 2004.

2 0 0 5 2 0 0 4
Q U A R T E R  E N D E D D E C .  3 1 S E P T .  3 0 J U N E  3 0 ( B ) M A R .  3 1 D E C .  3 1 S E P T .  3 0 J U N E  3 0 M A R .  3 1   

Revenues $ 44,307 $ 42,306 $ 43,185 $ 40,659 $ 44,734 $ 41,811 $ 44,263 $ 41,462

Gross profit(A) 16,700 15,822 16,050 12,915 17,843 15,029 16,747 14,219

Income  before  income taxes 5,097 4,284 3,444 800 5,361 3,539 5,059 3,478

Net income 3,121 2,581 2,021 470 3,030 2,032 2,975 2,091

Earnings per diluted share 0.07 0.06 0.05 0.01 0.07 0.05 0.07 0.05

Shares used in computing diluted 

earnings per share 41,869 41,771 41,943 42,735 44,056 44,350 44,803 45,062

(A) In the fourth quarter of 2005 we reclassified amortization cost of acquired software from amortization of acquisition intangibles to cost of revenues. The recon-

ciliation of gross profit to the 2004 Form 10-K and 2005 Form 10-Qs is as follows:

2 0 0 5 2 0 0 4
Q U A R T E R  E N D E D D E C .  3 1 S E P T .  3 0 J U N E  3 0 M A R .  3 1 D E C .  3 1 S E P T .  3 0 J U N E  3 0 M A R .  3 1   

Gross profit per Form 10-K or Form 10-Q $ 16,700 $ 16,020 $ 16,249 $ 13,113 $ 18,064 $ 15,296 $ 17,100 $ 14,825

Reclass acquired software 

amortization expense – (198) (199) (198) (221) (267) (353) (606)

Adjusted gross profit $ 16,700 $ 15,822 $ 16,050 $ 12,915 $ 17,843 $ 15,029 $ 16,747 $ 14,219

(B) We made significant organizational changes in the second quarter of 2005 to areas of our business that were not performing to our expectations. In connection

with the reorganization we recorded a restructuring charge of $1.3 million. 

N O T E S  T O  C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  ( C O N T I N U E D )

                                                                                                                                                    



Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. Our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer have evaluated the effectiveness of the design and

operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)) as of December 31, 2005. Based on such evaluation, our

chief executive officer and chief financial officer have concluded that as of December 31, 2005 such disclosure controls and procedures were effective and designed

to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized,

and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and include controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be

disclosed by us in such reports is accumulated and communicated to our management, including the chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate

to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. During the quarter ended December 31, 2005, there were no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting, as

defined in Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f), that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over

financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Tyler’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control

over financial reporting as defined in Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Tyler’s internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable

assurance to Tyler’s management and board of directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those systems determined to

be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.

Management assessed the effectiveness of Tyler’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005. In making this assessment, management used

the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control – Integrated Framework. Based on our

assessment, we believe that, as of December 31, 2005, Tyler’s internal control over financial reporting is effective based on those criteria.

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 has been audited by Ernst & Young, LLP, the

independent registered public accounting firm who also audited Tyler’s consolidated financial statements. Ernst & Young’s attestation report on management’s

assessment of Tyler’s internal control over financial reporting appears on page 38 hereof.
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